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The Hon. Alannah MacTiernan BA LLB BJuris JP MLA

Minister for Planning and Infrastructure

In accordance with Section 62 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, I hereby submit 

for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Land 

Administration for the year ending 30 June 2002.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Administration 

and Audit Act 1985.

Grahame Searle

A/Chief Executive

31 August 2002
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Metropolitan 

DOLA Head Office

Midland Square

MIDLAND 6056

Postal Address:

PO Box 2222

MIDLAND 6939

Telephone: (08) 92737373

Facsimile: (08) 92737666

TTY (telephone for hearing impaired): (08) 92737571

E-mail: mailroom@dola.wa.gov.au

DOLA website address: http://www/dola.wa.gov.au

DOLA Virtual shop:  http://www.landonline.com.au

WALIS website address:  http://www.walis.wa.gov.au

WALIS e-mail: walis@walis.wa.gov.au

Valuer General’s Office

18 Mount Street

PERTH 6000

Postal Address:

PO Box 7201

Cloisters Square

PERTH 6850

Telephone: (08) 94298400

Facsimile: (08) 94298500

E-mail: vgo@vgo.wa.gov.au

VGO website address: http://www.vgo.wa.gov.au

DOLA Perth Branch Office

Mount Newman House

Cloisters Square

220 St Georgres Terrace

PERTH 6000

Satellite Remote Sensing Services

Leeuwin Centre for Earth Sensing Technologies

65 Brockway Road

FLOREAT 6014

Telephone: (08) 93409330

Facsimile: (08) 93837142

E-mail: info@uranus.dola.wa.gov.au

Offi ce Locations
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Regional Offices

DOLA Bunbury Regional Office

61 Victoria Street

BUNBURY 6230

Telephone: (08) 97910836

Facsimile: (08) 97910835

DOLA Kununurra Regional Office

Cnr. Messmate Way and Konkerberry Drive

KUNUNURRA 6743

Telephone: (08) 91680255

Facsimile: (08) 91681048

VGO Bunbury Regional Office

61 Victoria Street

BUNBURY 6230

Telephone: (08) 97210800

Facsimile: (08) 97214465

E-mail: bunburyvgo@vgo.wa.gov.au

VGO Albany Regional Office

58 Serpentine Road

ALBANY 6330

Telephone: (08) 98414532

Facsimile: (08) 98414532

E-mail: albanyvgo@vgo.wa.gov.au

 

This Annual Report is available at DOLA’s website at 

http://www.dola.wa.gov.au

This Annual Report is based on last year’s 

successful format which won a Silver award for 

excellence in annual reporting, presented by the 

Institute of Public Administration (WA).
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About DOLA

The Department of Land Administration and its pre-

decessor agencies have, for more than 170 years, 

provided the State with high quality survey and 

mapping services, a secure land titles system and 

administrative services for the Crown estate. 

DOLA has maintained a pivotal role in the 

management and development of WA since its 

origin in 1829 as the Survey Offi ce of the Swan 

River Colony.

With the integration of the Valuer General’s Offi ce 

into DOLA last year, there are around 900 

employees who are committed to providing quality 

customer service. DOLA works to ensure the 

highest levels of accuracy, effi ciency and delivery 

for its products and services.

DOLA is the lead organisation providing the legal, 

geographic and administrative base for the use of 

land by the Western Australian community.

Our Vision 

DOLA’s land information and leadership in land 

matters underpins the economic prosperity of 

all Western Australians. By anticipating and 

servicing customer and stakeholder needs, DOLA 

is delivering products and services on a par with 

best practice globally. 

We will: 

• Focus on global standards and practices;

• Be the fi rst point of contact for advice about land 

matters;

• Provide high quality, integrated, digital land infor-

mation;

• Be a “one-stop shop” provider;

• Lead in the direction and solution of land matters;

• Pay our way;

• Focus on outcomes;

• Leverage off our intellectual capital;

• Know our customers’ business; and

• Use technologies and business processes that 

anticipate customer needs.

Our Mission

To contribute to the growth and prosperity of 

Western Australia through innovative land services, 

a world class land information infrastructure, and an 

effective, independent and impartial valuation and 

property information service.

Our Values

DOLA’s values lay the foundation for the way in 

which it assists customers and colleagues:

• Quality and continuous improvement;

• Dealing with others in an ethical and fair manner;

• Encouragement and innovation;

• Flexibility and responsiveness;

• Consultation and participation through teamwork;

• Rewarding and recognising people who contribute 

to DOLA’s vision; and

• Enabling and encouraging people to reach their full 

potential.

vision, mission and values
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What we do

• Our core business is land information. We 

are responsible for ensuring the State’s land 

ownership records are up-to-date and easily 

accessible.

• We collect geospatial data from ground surveys, 

aerial photography and satellite imagery. This infor-

mation is used to produce a wide range of digital 

and hard copy maps for many different purposes.

• We provide an effective and impartial valuation and 

property information service.

• We are a lead agency in the Western Australian 

Land Information System (WALIS) – a consortium 

of State Government agencies that coordinates 

WA’s land information.

• We administer the State’s Crown estate, making 

Government land available for housing and 

business in country areas, public roads and infra-

structure and major projects like gas pipelines and 

airports.

Our customers

As well as providing products and services for 

the entire community, DOLA has also developed a 

relationship with the following customer groups:

• Conveyancers and settlement agencies;

• Financial institutions;

• Land developers;

• Legal professionals;

• Local governments and statutory authorities;

• Mining and exploration industries;

• Pastoralists and farmers;

• Real estate agents, valuers and land economists;

• State, Commonwealth and global agencies;

• Surveyors, cartographers, spatial and GIS users; 

• Tourism and recreation industries; and

• Educational groups and training specialists.

Strategic Plan for 2000-2005 – New 
Horizons

In 1999-2000, DOLA launched a strategic plan 

spanning fi ve years. Known as New Horizons, 

the plan was updated after the MOG Report and 

now outlines how the Department will build on ini-

tiatives already underway. The targets set in New 

Horizons refl ect seven goals that we believe should 

be achieved by 2005 to provide the type of land 

infrastructure the State will need to support its 

development and growth.

The goals

• Deliver Government land and property services 

that facilitate development and maximise returns on 

land assets.

• Leverage DOLA’s intellectual property to generate 

revenue through new opportunities, products and 

services.

• Lead in the application of land expertise and 

land information and property solutions to achieve 

Government priorities.

• Lead in the delivery of a registration system guar-

anteeing all interests in land.

• Enable all Western Australians to access 

Government information about valuation, 

ownership and interests in land at any time from 

any location and through a single doorway.

• Deliver fundamental land and property data sets to 

meet the management needs of the State.

• Target self-suffi ciency and ensure that all 

necessary resources are available and systems in 

place to meet DOLA’s Strategic Goals.
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Chief Executive’s foreword

DOLA has continued to build upon the momentum of the last few years 

to position itself as a leading provider of government land information and 

services.

Like many organisations in the new knowledge economy, leading-edge 

technology, new management applications, the growth in e-business and 

customer expectations are driving DOLA’s change program. 

Over the last 12 months the recommendations from the Machinery of 

Government Report (MOG) have given us added impetus to examine our 

structure to meet the rigours of the future.  The merger of the Valuer General’s 

Offi ce with DOLA has laid the foundation for a single land information agency.

Using technology, we are partnering with our customers to integrate our 

knowledge and data with other available information to meet the increasing 

expectations of government, business and the community.  A single access 

point to integrate spatial information holds the key to meeting these sophisti-

cated customer demands.

Effective government resource planning and decision making relies upon 

integrated land and property, environment and community information.  Eighty 

percent of this information can be spatially referenced.  DOLA, as the custodian 

of the State’s fundamental spatial data sets has a lead role to play in this 

regard.

Over the last 12 months we have made further strides in converting DOLA’s 

tenure data to a digital format. Our outstanding achievement in the develop-

ment of SmartRegister was recognised when we were awarded a Common-

wealth Government Technology Productivity Gold Award.  There is now the 

opportunity to build upon SmartRegister and move into a new dimension in 

fulfi lling our traditional functions of land and property information.

DOLA’s successes this year have been signifi cant.  SmartRegister, SmartPlan, 

SkyView WA, the completion of the triennial revaluation and record registration 

levels due to the property boom were all achieved against a backdrop of 

organisational uncertainty.  This has only been possible due to DOLA’s 

dedicated workforce.

I wish to congratulate the staff on their achievement and recognise their talent 

and commitment as the key driver in all that DOLA has accomplished this 

year.

Grahame Searle

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
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Major Issues and Trends

• The demand from the public and private sectors 

for high quality, integrated, digital land information 

continues to grow.  This information is used, 

among other things, to provide critical input to 

support decision making in key areas such as 

emergency services, resources and environmental 

management, health services, land development 

and the provision of transport information.

• Natural resource management and sustain ability 

issues which include carbon rights and tree 

plantation interests are requiring new forms of land 

interests to be recognised in the titles registration 

system.

• There is a growing need for a single electronic 

access point to land and property information in 

regard to the full range of direct and related 

interests in land.  

• There is an emerging need for integrated leg-

islation to manage access to infrastructure and 

service corridors to enable effi cient economic 

development.

• Community demographic patterns will change 

greatly in coming years, and this will progressively 

infl uence the selection of home sites closer to 

urban centres and the acceptance of higher 

settlement densities.

• Rating and Taxing values are central to the 

revenue collection activities of State and local 

government.  The Valuer General has an ongoing 

responsibility to ensure impartial and independent 

valuations. 

• Independent and impartial valuation and property 

advice is critical to the transparency of all 

government property transactions.

• Valuation of public sector and local government 

assets is a basic requirement of sound fi nancial 

management and the application of accrual 

accounting.  Demand for the valuation of assets 

continues to increase and is now a major 

component of the overall valuation program.  

Consequently, the maintenance of appropriate 

standards, expertise and policies in this new area 

is essential. 
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Achievements 2001-2002

SmartRegister

DOLA is nearing completion of the conversion from 

a paper-based to a digital land titles system.  This 

forms the foundation for electronic conveyancing.  

DOLA outsourced the conversion of titles to Hermes 

Precisa Australia (HPA) in a $7 million contract.  

Consequently, a quality-measured product was 

delivered on time and on budget.  The project won 

a Federal Government Technology Productivity Gold 

Award in March 2002 in recognition of the innovative 

and comprehensive solution.

Ninety-three percent of paper titles have been 

converted to digital format.  This has led to an 

improved turn-around of land registration actions for 

both freehold and Crown land and has established 

a global platform for e-commerce, a Register of 

Interests and a land and property portal.

SmartPlan 

SmartPlan is a major project designed to provide 

an electronic replacement for the traditional paper-

based public plan system.  It eliminates the need to 

maintain paper-based public plans, which results in 

signifi cant cost savings.

SmartPlan provides a user-friendly interface 

between DOLA’s separate digital land information 

data systems.  This interface has been made 

possible by the transfer of the electronic cadastral 

maintenance operations from the DOLA mainframe 

to a client server platform together with an updated 

facility to edit lodged digital data fi les.  These were 

completed in April 2002.

The implementation of SmartPlan has provided 

an on-line GIS system that can access DOLA’s 

cadastral information and other data management 

facilities.  Part of this on-line GIS system is an 

Internet feature called LandLinks WA.  LandLinks 

WA allows subscribing customers to access 

cadastral data remotely.

The introduction of SmartRegister has meant that 

titles no longer contain a sketch of the land parcel, 

placing that responsibility on the survey plan.  

A new survey plan format was thus developed 

by DOLA in partnership with the local surveying 

industry.  This new format was recognised with a 

special citation in the A.W. Canning Awards of the 

WA Institute of Surveyors in May 2002.

Valuation 

The triennial General Valuation for the metropolitan 

area comprising over 600,000 valuations for local 

government rates, including Water Corporation, 

sewerage and drainage rates was successfully 

completed.

Property sales information was made available as 

a digital map base.  The proposal to establish a 

register of property leases was further developed 

during the year.  Signifi cant contribution was made 

towards Western Australia’s Report on the review 

of Commonwealth Grants Commission’s methods for 

determining grants to the States.

Image System Upgrade

DOLA’s Title Imaging System is undergoing a 

mid-life upgrade.  The upgrade has seen the 

replacement of 10-year-old hardware with modern 

DVD-based technology.  Conversion of the images 

will be completed by August 2002.  The system will 

reduce costs and provide faster and more reliable 

access to titles and deposited plans for searching.   SmartRegister Team
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Development of ‘Proof of Concept’ for Electronic 

Advice of Sale (EAS). 

A joint initiative between DOLA, the Offi ce of State 

Revenue, Water Corporation and the City of Swan, 

the Proof of Concept project successfully demon-

strated that it could provide real-time online access 

to land tax, water and local government information 

to conveyancers.  The success of the project has 

now laid the foundation for the development of this 

system.

Gascoyne Muster - Pastoral Industry Forum 

This industry forum was held in Carnarvon on 

4-5 May 2002 and was jointly hosted by the Hon 

Minister for Planning and Infrastructure and the 

Pastoral Lands Board/DOLA.

Approximately 300 people attended, resulting in 

the largest ever gathering of WA pastoralists. A 

number of working groups will be established at 

the direction of the Minister to address specifi c 

issues of importance to the pastoral industry and 

the wider community. The forum provided an avenue 

for ongoing engagement between Government, the 

pastoral industry and other stakeholders with an 

interest in the future use of the State’s rangelands.

Native Title

The Native Title Unit provided specialist technical 

support on land tenure and Native Title issues.  

This support relates to the future Act processes 

under the Native Title Act.  The Unit supported 

several major Government projects with represen-

tation on the Government’s technical taskforce on 

Mineral Tenements and Land Title applications.

Property Street Address Project

As well as creating a distance-based numbering 

system for rural properties, DOLA has also created 

new – and is validating existing – addresses 

in the metropolitan area and country towns and 

for the purpose of strata titles.  The Property 

Street Address project, coordinated by DOLA and 

sponsored by a number of organisations, including 

Australia Post and the WA Electoral Commission 

was completed in June 2002.

Western Australian Satellite Technology and Appli-

cations Consortium (WASTAC) X-Band Satellite 

Receiving Facility

DOLA, in partnership with the Commonwealth 

Scientifi c Industrial Research Organisation 

(CSIRO), the Bureau of Meteorology, Geoscience 

Australia, Murdoch University and Curtin University 

of Technology installed a new X-Band satellite 

receiving at Murdoch University in October 2001.  

This facility improves the sustainable management of 

WA’s resources by providing better information about 

global environmental changes affecting climate, 

forests, coral reefs and agriculture.  Additionally, it 

enhances long range weather forecasting, fi re risk 

management and monitoring of the Leeuwin current.  

Farmers can use this facility to improve crop and 

pasture yield forecasts, frost and drought monitoring 

and surveillance of vegetation conditions.

Lonnie Awards

DOLA received a prestigious Silver Lonnie Award 

from the Institute of Public Administration Australia 

for its 2000-2001 annual report. The awards are 

presented for excellence in public sector account-

ability.

Grahame Searle and Helen Fordham accepting 
the Lonnie award for DOLA
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Quality Certification

Geographic Services and Land Administration 

Services branches attained an upgrade to AS/NZS 

ISO 9001: 2000 in 2001-2002.  Customer Services 

Branch has maintained their certifi cation at this 

level.  The new Standard has a greater emphasis 

on continuous improvement to ensure customer 

requirements are met.  Registration Services Branch 

is to be assessed for certifi cation to the new 

standard in early 2002-2003.

Cooperative Research Centre

DOLA was the lead agency in developing an appli-

cation for a Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) for 

Application of Earth Observations (CAEO), a joint 

venture partnership between the Private Sector, 

Natural Resource Agencies, CSIRO, Universities 

and Rural Industry R&D Corporations. The CRC 

could represent a $111.6 million investment over 

seven years from 2003 to 2010. 

By providing daily information on the spatial 

variation of key processes, the CRC would have 

a major impact on the sustainability of our agricul-

tural and natural vegetation resources.  This infor-

mation would also identify areas of environmental 

stress in need of remediation. Those impacted 

by the extensive areas of native vegetation would 

be provided with integrated information at regional 

and continental scale that could enable improved 

management of bush fi res, biodiversity, rangelands 

and wetlands. 

Product Highlights

SkyView WA

Launched in May 2001, SkyView WA provides on 

line access to digital aerial photographs in the form 

of large aerial mosaics.  These mosaics cover vast 

areas of the State and are made up of tens of 

thousands of rectifi ed aerial images.

It features the largest aerial photographic mosaic of 

the metropolitan area ever produced. Covering Perth 

suburbs from Two Rocks to Mandurah, this image 

is a record 12.4 gigabytes compressed – making 

it one of the world’s largest aerial images available 

on the Internet. Alongside the colour metropolitan 

photograph is an even larger outer metropolitan view 

covering the Avon Valley south to Boddington.

Enhancements made in April 2002 allow for easier 

access, faster download of a wider range of imagery.  

SkyView WA now has more than 60 colour and 

greyscale aerial mosaics in a range of resolutions.

Using SkyView, customers can pan and zoom over 

the imagery to view, select and purchase any portion 

of the image using a secure credit card payment 

facility.

Crown Land Practices Manual

A Crown land practices manual has been fi nalised to 

assist staff and customers.  This will be released to 

the public towards the end of 2002.  

Cooperative Research Centre Imagery

SkyView Aerial Photography

Crown Land Practices Manual Team
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Emergency Services Directory  (ESD)

The Perth North Region and Avon Emergency 

Services Directories were delivered to FESA and 

participating local governments. The books are 

designed to facilitate the delivery of a range of 

essential emergency services across the Shires 

of Gingin, Chittering, Mundaring, Toodyay and 

Northam and the Cities of Swan and Wanneroo. 

Together they have an effective coverage of 11 

920-sq kms. The project was a collaborative effort 

with funding and support provided by DOLA, the 

Local Government Agencies mentioned above, Fire 

and Emergency Services Authority, Department 

of Conservation and Land Management, Lotteries 

Commission and St John Ambulance.

Agimage Land Online

The Agimage Land Online proof of concept project 

has developed an Intranet browser interface to 

perform analysis of satellite data to produce a 

map of crop variability.  Clients may access online 

products that include an enhanced satellite map 

showing infra-red response to crop and pasture 

condition or health, and a greenness/biomass map 

of crops within individual paddocks over a period 

of seasons.  These products will provide the 

farming community with improved information of 

their properties to optimise land use.  

Corporate highlights

Leadership Program

A Pilot Leadership Program was launched on 20 

November 2001 as part of DOLA’s efforts to nurture 

potential leaders who can steer the organisation 

into the future.  Twelve participants were selected 

for the pilot scheme.  The program involves par-

ticipants working on “special projects” as well as 

individually tailored components aimed at addressing 

their personal developmental needs.  It is envisaged 

the Leadership Program will run annually.

Review of Land Administration Services

An internal review of Land Administration Services 

was commenced to ensure that the structure of 

the Branch has the fl exibility to be able to meet 

future customer objectives.  As part of this process a 

concise business plan has been developed to defi ne 

purpose, vision and goals for the short, medium and 

long term. 

In addition, work has commenced to identify 

competency standards in land administration with 

the view to linking to national competency standards 

being developed by Land NSW.  DOLA is also 

working on a training strategy that will provide skills 

recognition and development in both land administra-

tion and plan registration.  A comprehensive Crown 
Leadership Program participants
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Land Practices Manual was also developed and 

initial training undertaken in May 2002.  

Implementation of Machinery of Government (MOG) 

Recommendations

In compliance with the recommendations of the 

Machinery of Government Taskforce Report, DOLA 

completed the transfer of future crown land devel-

opment to LandCorp.  This included fi nalising the 

transfer of some 1005 Crown lots in freehold title.

The merger of DOLA and Valuer General’s Offi ce 

(VGO) was also completed. 

The MOG review also recommended that the 

Minister for Planning and Infrastructure consider 

whether DOLA’s land information and titling 

functions should become a self-funding government 

business enterprise (GBE).

A Steering Committee was appointed to review the 

options for the future of DOLA.  Research and 

administrative support for the review was provided 

by DOLA.

The Committee completed its tasks and presented 

its report to the Hon Minister in April 2002 with the 

recommendation that a GBE be established to carry 

out land information and titling activities.

The Minister released the report and initiated 

a four-week consultation process with staff and 

stakeholders.  The consultation period has been 

completed and all submissions are with the 

Minister for consideration, prior to making recom-

mendations to Cabinet.

Outlook 2002-2003

DOLA is moving closer to achieving its vision of 

becoming the leading provider of integrated spatial 

information relating to the State’s land and property.

This is being progressed through projects such 

as Landlinks, the Land and Property Portal, the 

Valuation Webforms and Sales Map Viewer system 

as well as related initiatives such as the development 

of Web IT Architecture, the Market Research 

Program and appropriate licensing and pricing 

policies.

Landlinks WA 

This application allows registered subscribers to 

access Western Australia’s spatial cadastral informa-

tion through the Internet and will form the basis of 

the Land and Property Portal.

Screen Images of the LandLinks application



1 6  |  D O L A Contents  |  Year in Review  |  Review of Operations  |  Products and Services   |  Financial Statement  |  Appendices  |  Glossary

The Land and Property Portal 

The Portal is being developed to provide co-

ordinated access to DOLA’s on-line products and 

services. It will provide a number of views (or 

channels) customised for specifi c industry needs 

with the initial channels being targeted for release 

in August 2002.  This Portal will also provide 

a framework for improved access to a range of 

interests that affect the use and enjoyment of land. 

Valuation Webforms project 

This project is an e-related initiative to enhance 

on-line access for local government to valuation 

information.  It is also being advanced as part of 

DOLA’s overall e-business strategy.

IT Architecture

The framework for DOLA’s new IT Architecture to 

support these projects was approved on 17 May 

2002 and its adoption will ensure that on-line appli-

cations meet customer expectations with regard to 

turn-around times, security of service and cost. 

Sales Map Viewer system 

The development of this system represents a sig-

nifi cant step forward, moving from paper-based 

maps towards an electronic mapping system for 

valuers and real estate agents. Its functionality will 

be incorporated into the Land and Property Portal 

project resulting in clients being able to download 

the latest images of maps over the Internet, as 

demonstrated at the ‘Home Expo’ held at the 

Claremont Showgrounds in June 2002.

Market Research

Two phases of qualitative market research have 

been conducted to ascertain customer needs and 

priorities and to segment the market to identify new 

product and customer development opportunities. 

Project-specifi c research has also been performed 

to gauge the market potential of an Internet-based 

portal providing access to a range of interests 

that affect the use and enjoyment of land and to 

assess customer perceptions of improved access 

to DOLA’s datasets (Land and Property Portal). 

Further qualitative market research is currently 

being commissioned to enable DOLA to take a 

more defi nitive view of those areas that require 

focus to meet customer expectations in terms of 

service, product delivery, customer management 

and communication.

Licensing and Pricing

A suite of standard licence agreements have been 

prepared to facilitate the e-delivery of Western Aus-

tralia’s land and property information in accordance 

with concurrently developed access and pricing 

policy guidelines.

Data Quality Improvement Program

An assessment of topographic data quality has 

been undertaken and a user survey and analysis 

conducted.  A pilot project is currently in place to 

ascertain costs and benefi ts of enhancing this data, 

facilitating a commercial assessment of its contribu-

tion to the overall business model of DOLA.

A preliminary analysis of the Property Street Address 

data set has also been completed in support of the 

Land and Property Portal.

DOLA continues to progressively upgrade the 

positional accuracy of its spatial cadastral data 

through an ongoing program of spatial upgrade.  So 

far sixty-fi ve percent of the State cadastre has been 

upgraded.  Areas targeted for major infrastructure 

development will be given priority in 2002-2003.

Land and Property Portal 
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Financial Overview 

Operating Revenue

A buoyant property market during 2001-2002 enabled DOLA’s revenue to exceed $60m with the main 

revenue sources being the Land Titles Management and Valuation Service activities.

Cost of Services

The increase in activity, and hence revenue, was the main reason for the additional expenditure of $3.166 

million (3.56% above budget).

Capital Expenditure

Capital Expenditure exceeded $7.3 million and was directed mainly at DOLA’s continued investment in 

information technology, which mostly included the digital capture of land titles information and the asset 

replacement program.

Financial Summary
                  2001-2002 
             ($’000) 

Cost of Services

Operating Expenses    92,094

Operating Revenue           60,201

Net Cost of Services           31,893

Statement of Financial Position

Total Assets            45,405

Total Liabilities            16,430

Total Equity            28,975
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Summary of Output Measures 

Quantity Measures*  Actual Actual Target Actual 
  1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2001-2002 

Government land actions  8,000 8,648 7,500 6117

Land registration actions  1,614,000 1,603,611 1,515,200 1,815,296

Physical land information data   9 9 9 9

sets maintained and developed     

Land boundary information data   3 3 3 3

sets maintained and developed

Rating & Taxing Valuations    

   Gross Rental Valuations  126,464 442,129 427,712 412,535

   Unimproved Valuations   779,629 800,710 789,474 799,818

Other Valuations    

   Plant and equipment valuations  12,568 2,160 20,000 8,359

   Stamp duty valuations  6,331 6,538 6,405 7,269

   Asset valuations  125,269 122,488 127,400 130,346

   Market valuations  8,916 8,719 8,975 10,737

Consultancy hours  12,943 15,037 7,160 14,959

Requests for property information  42,322 27,343 37,000 31,500

WALIS Business Plan projects   NA NA 14 14

* Each measure listed will be linked to explanatory text about the results in the body of the report.

* Gross Rental Valuation for the Metropolitan area is a 3 year program with numbers refl ecting each year’s 

  proportion of activity.
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Achieve and maintain ISO 9002 Quality Assurance for 
Government land action process

Maintain IS0 9002 Quality Assurance for physical land 
information data set maintenance and development 
processes

Maintain IS0 9002 Quality Assurance for land boundary 
information data set maintenance and development 
processes

Claims against registered interests, as a result of fraud, 
negligence or error, settled by the Crown

Benchmark against international standards for accuracy 
and taxing values using Means Ratio Test
 Gross Rental Valuations
 Unimproved Valuations

Coeffi cent of dispersion applied to check uniformity of 
values
 Gross Rental Valuations
 Unimproved Valuations

Extent to which performance criteria for WALIS 
Business Plan projects are achieved

Actual
1999-2000

Not Yet Achieved

Maintained

Maintained

1
 

NA
91.77%

NA
4.47%

NA

Actual
2000-2001

Achieved and 
Maintained

Maintained

Maintained

0

94.14%
91.87%

5.48%
4.64%

NA

Target
2001-2002

Maintained

Maintained

Maintained

0

92.5%
92.5%

<15%
<15%

75%

Actual
2001-2002

Maintained

Maintained

Not Maintained

1

92.38%
92.69%

5.01%
4.31%

64%

Quality Measures*

* Each measure listed will be linked to explanatory text about the results in the body of the report.
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Government land actions completed within target time

Time systems providing registration services are available for use

Requests for physical land information data met within target times

Land boundary information added to data sets within target times

Completed Gross Rental Valuations by 31 March

Completed Unimproved Valuations by 31 May

Turnaround target times met for

 Plant and equipment

 Stamp duty values

 Government Property Register

 Market values

 Consultancies

WALIS Business Plan projects completed within agreed times

Actual
1999-2000

NA

NA

95%

95%

96.96%

9.63%

100%

88.9%

0%

56.3%

74.5%

NA

Actual
2000-2001

97%

97.5%

95%

95%

93.3%

96.0%

NA

91.0%

NA

46.9%

12.3%

NA

Target
2001-2002

85%

98%

95%

95%

>95%

>98%

100%

80%

95%

70%

70%

90%

Actual
2001-2002

97%

98.6%

99%

98%

93.7%

92.3%

100%

93.1%

99.2%

66.2%

12.8%

57%

Timeliness Measures*

* Each measure listed will be linked to explanatory text about the results in the body of the report.
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Government land actions

Land registration actions

Physical land information data sets maintained and developed

Land boundary information data sets maintained and developed

Rating and Taxing Valuations

Other Valuations

Consultancy hours

Requests for property information

WALIS Business Plan projects 

 Actual

1999-2000

 $1,914.00

 $25.25

$1,620,309.00

$886,997.00

 $10.44

 $28.70

 $37.40

 $16.47

 NA

 Actual

2000-2001

 $1,691.00

 $23.16

$1,462,231.00

$801,671.00

 $8.03

 $33.30

 $38.27

 $29.37

 NA

Target

2001-2002

 $1,950.00

 $26.53

$1,573,515.00

$861,381.00

 $8.58

 $26.57

 $37.18

 $21.08

$110,428.00

Actual

2001-2002

 $2,563.00

 $22.26

$1,643,770.00

$990,296.00

 $8.74

 $30.41

 $50.39

 $43.61

$112,033.00

Timeliness Measures*

* Each measure listed will be linked to explanatory text about the results in the body of the report.
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CHANGING TIMES

A Retrospective – DOLA since 1987

Managing land administration in Western Australia 

more effi ciently drove the establishment of DOLA in 

July 1986.  Over the following fi ve years, the agency 

focused upon enhancing the mapping and land 

administration services and this included placing 

Crown land records and Certifi cates of Title in 

electronic format.

This marked the beginnings of an evolution in 

DOLA’s role from a land administrator into one that 

could potentially provide integrated land information 

solutions.

In November 1994, the Government provided 

funds for the enhancement of four major projects; 

Crown Land Information System, Electronic 

Dealing Endorsement, SmartPlan and Financial 

Management System. 

These projects formed the foundation for the 

provision of accessible, quality integrated, digital 

land information for Government and industry.  

The agency began to focus on the development 

of new systems and procedures to keep pace with 

customer requirements for streamlined electroni-

cally-based business processes.  

In 1998-1999, DOLA launched into the world of 

e-commerce, with a pilot project providing digital 

data on sea surface temperatures to support the 

fi shing industry.  Meanwhile, improved electronic 

delivery options for customers continued.

By the year 2000, DOLA had moved towards a 

fully digital environment.  A groundbreaking 5-year 

strategic plan was released.  Called New Horizons, 

the plan focused on the business DOLA must 

become to remain relevant in a rapidly changing 

environment.  New Horizons provided the strategic 

framework to become, within 5 years, a self-funding, 

commercially focused organisation, using 

e-commerce to provide integrated land information 

solutions through a single point of contact.  To 

this end, signifi cant progress was made between 

1999-2001 with SmartRegister, SmartPlan and 

DOLA’s e-commerce site, Land Online.



2 4  |  D O L A Contents  |  Year in Review  |  Review of Operations  |  Products and Services   |  Financial Statement  |  Appendices  |  Glossary

Challenges for the future

DOLA today faces some signifi cant challenges in 

its quest to position itself for the future.  Some 

of these pressures are externally driven by the rec-

ommendations from the Machinery of Government 

Report while others are infl uenced by technology 

and customer expectations.

DOLA’s continued success hinges on its 

commitment to developing integrated land infor-

mation which can be used for both government 

resource planning as well as meeting customer 

expectations of a single access point for land data.  

This underpins several projects under development.  

In August 2001, DOLA put in place a new 

transitional structure to provide a specifi c focus 

on business and organisational change while 

continuing to deliver quality services to customers.
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ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEW – Transitional Organisational Chart

Grahame Searle

A/Chief Executive

Department of Land Administration

Responsible for the overall strategic and operational management of the 

Department of Land Administration. 

Also the Chairman of the WALIS Executive Policy Committee providing 

policy direction.  This committee comprises CEOs of all agencies partici-

pating in WALIS.

Jim Rhoads

A/Director

WALIS Offi ce

The Western Australian Land Information System coordinates the 

management and delivery of the State’s Government land information.

The WALIS Offi ce is responsible for marketing WALIS, providing strategic 

leadership, and managing stakeholder participation and WALIS projects.

Reports to the Chairman of the WALIS Executive Policy Committee.

Gary Fenner
A/Director
Valuation Services (and 
Valuer General)

Holds the Statutory Position 

of Valuer General of Western 

Australia and is responsible for 

the general administration of 

the Valuation of Land Act 1978.

This ensures independent and 

impartial valuation services are 

provided to meet the needs 

of State, Local and Common-

wealth governments and that 

the rights of property owners 

are protected by the separation 

of the valuation function and 

the collection of monies from 

taxation and rating.

Ian Hyde
A/Director
Business Development
(and Registrar of Titles)

Responsible for Business 

Planning, Information Policy 

Development, Marketing, 

Strategic Development and 

Information Coordination 

across the Agency.

Heather Brown
A/Director
Organisational Transformation

Responsible for corporate 

policy, planning strategies, 

including proposals for the 

future of DOLA, legislative 

review and corporate communi-

cations.

Andrew Burke
A/Director
Land Information and Admin-
istration Services

Responsible for the provision 

of products and services to 

ensure that Government and 

community needs are met in 

the management and use of 

Government land; ensuring that 

the land information base 

provides certainty of ownership 

and supports the State’s admin-

istrative, commercial and social 

systems.

Mark Woodcock
A/Director
Business Support Services

Responsible for resource 

management in the fi nancial, 

human, legal, administrative 

and infrastructure areas to 

support DOLA’s operational 

activities.  

Also responsible for outcome 

management and performance 

audit, to drive improvements in 

business processes within the 

organisation.
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DOLA’S OUTCOME/OUTPUT FRAMEWORK

MISSION DOLA contributes to the growth and prosperity of Western 

Australia through innovative land services, a world class 

land information infrastructure, and an effective and impartial 

valuation and property information service.

OUTCOMES Management and Use 
of Government Land

Government land is managed 

and used to support the 

economic, social and cultural 

objectives of the State.

Land Information
The State’s administrative, 

commercial and social systems 

are supported by a land infor-

mation base and certainty of 

ownership and other interests in 

land.

Valuation Services
An effective and impartial 

valuation and property informa-

tion service.

Access to Government 
Land or Geographic 

Information
Government land information 

supports the management and 

development of the State. 

OUTPUTS Government land is allocated 

and administered for residential, 

commercial, industrial, 

conservation, heritage and other 

community purposes.

Information about land and land 

ownership is collected, recorded 

and made available for use by 

Government, business and the 

community.

Completion of accurate valuation 

rolls of all rateable land in the 

State and 

timely provision to 

rating and taxing authorities.

Provision of property valuation 

and consultancy services to 

Government and others.

Provision of property related data 

and sales information.

Land information from WALIS 

stakeholder agencies is 

managed in a coordinated way 

so that data held by agencies 

can be integrated and readily 

accessed to meet Government, 

business and community needs.
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Corporate Governance 

An effective corporate governance framework 

optimises business performance by ensuring trans-

parent and ethical management practices. 

DOLA’s Code of Corporate Governance Practice 

and the Executive Board Charter provide a 

governance framework that facilitates a high 

standard of leadership and direction for the 

agency. The Executive Board and its sub-commit-

tees operate in a manner consistent with sound 

management practice, and ensure that the organisa-

tion implements Government policy with openness 

and integrity, in the best interests of its customers 

and stakeholders. DOLA has controls in place 

for business planning, compliance reporting, risk 

management and monitoring of operational perfor-

mance.

The Executive Board 

The Chief Executive Offi cer has ultimate respon-

sibility to the Minister for DOLA’s performance 

and is supported by the Executive Board, DOLA’s 

principal governing body.  The Executive Board is 

responsible for:

• developing and monitoring corporate directions;

• overseeing an effective control environment;

• budgeting and planning;

• monitoring operational management outcomes; 

• achieving accountability and compliance with 

Government requirements.

Transitional Arrangements

In August 2001 with the approval of the Department 

of Premier and Cabinet, DOLA put in place a 

transitional structure.  At 30 June 2002, the transi-

tional Executive Board comprised the Acting Chief 

Executive Offi cer and fi ve Acting Directors: Business 

Support Services; Land Administration and Infor-

mation Services; Valuation Services; Organisational 

Transformation; and Business Development.

Executive Board Members
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Grahame Searle
Acting Chief Executive
 

Grahame Searle has qualifi cations 

in business. He has a strong 

background in information technology 

and, in particular, integrating computer 

systems for customer service delivery. 

Grahame has extensive experience 

in managing information technology 

projects for Victoria’s Land Registry; 

Museum of Victoria; the Registry of 

Deaths, Births and Marriages; and 

Survey and Mapping Victoria. Prior 

to joining DOLA in January 1998 

as Director Service Delivery, he was 

Director of Victoria’s Title Registration 

Services. 

Heather Brown
Acting Director Organisational 
Transformation
 

Heather Brown has a postgraduate 

qualifi cation in psychology and 18 

years’ experience in the public sector 

in a range of agencies including the 

Health Department, the Department 

of Local Government, the Ministry of 

Fair Trading and the Disability Services 

Commission. Her responsibilities have 

encompassed strategic planning; in 

particular developing the proposal 

for the future of DOLA, corporate 

communications, policy, legislative 

review, performance evaluation, inter-

governmental relations and opera-

tional management. Heather joined 

DOLA in January 1998 as Director, 

Strategic Planning.

Ian Hyde
Acting Director Business 

Development 

Ian Hyde has qualifi cations in 

surveying and computing. He has 

been actively involved in land admin-

istration and information management 

for over 21 years in both the public 

and private sectors and was Coor-

dinator of the Western Australian 

Land Information System. Ian has 

extensive experience in land informa-

tion management, negotiation, service 

delivery provision, strategic and 

business planning, policy development 

and management of multi-disciplinary 

teams and complex projects. 

Mark Woodcock
Acting Director Business Support 

Services 

Mark Woodcock has a BA honours 

degree in Economics. He has 25 

years’ experience in various 

management roles including tertiary 

education, advertising and publishing, 

and more recently health care. He 

worked in the UK, Ireland, and 

the Middle East before migrating to 

Australia. He brings commercial and 

change management experience to 

DOLA. Mark was appointed from the 

private sector to his current position in 

September 2000.

The executive team
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Gary Fenner 
Acting Director Valuation Services

Gary Fenner has tertiary qualifi ca-

tions in agriculture and valuation, and 

a Bachelor of Business degree. He 

has over 31 years experience in the 

property industry ranging from the 

positions of Chief Valuer Country, 

Chief Valuer Metropolitan and has 

held the position of Valuer General 

for the last two years. Gary has 

been an elected board member of the 

Australian Property Institute for the 

past fi ve years. He is also a member 

of the Curtin University Advisory 

Committee for Property Studies and 

the Property Education Foundation. 

Andrew Burke 
Acting Director Land Information and 
Administration Services 

Andrew Burke is an engineer with a 

varied background in both the public 

and private sectors including oper-

ational management and corporate 

planning roles. In 1990, Andrew led 

a taskforce to develop a strategy to 

integrate and improve access to the 

State’s land information.  He was 

subsequently appointed Director, WA 

Land Information System in 1990, a 

position he held until taking up his 

current acting position in DOLA.

Christopher Williams
Acting Director WALIS and Outcome 
Management (from August 2001 – 
March 2002)

Christopher Williams has a postgrad-

uate qualifi cation in public policy and 

degrees in the social sciences. He 

has held senior positions in the WA 

departments of Local Government 

and Health and worked in Common-

wealth Government agencies with 

responsibility for policy development 

and funding administration. Chris 

joined DOLA in 1994 as Director 

Land Operations, and was later 

appointed Director Government Land 

Services.  In March 2002, Chris left 

DOLA to take up a position in another 

Government department. 
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Executive Board Sub committees

Two sub-committees of the Executive Board were 

formed as part of the transitional structure, the 

Business Performance Committee and the Business 

Transformation Committee.  

The Business Performance Committee focuses on 

operational matters. It is the forum for dialogue 

and discussion, raising of concerns and developing 

solutions to ensure delivery of the department’s 

ongoing services and products.  Membership 

comprises:

• Acting Director Business Support Services (Chair)

• Acting Director Land Information and Administra-

tion Services

• Acting Director Valuation Services

• Acting Director Business Development

• Manger Information Coordination

Managing change is the focus of the Business 

Transformation Committee. It provides advice to the 

Executive Board on policy, planning and resourcing 

matters that concern business change within the 

agency, including identifying strategic objectives, 

initiatives and critical success factors that sub-

stantially infl uence the agency’s future directions.  

Membership comprises:

• Acting Director Business Development (joint Chair)

• Acting Director Organisational Transformation (joint 

Chair)

• Manager Information Coordination

• Manager Marketing and Product Development

• Manager Business Policy and Planning

• Nominee of Acting Director Business Support 

Services

• Nominee of Acting Director Land Information and 

Administration Services

• Nominee of Acting Director Valuation Services

Advisory groups to the Executive Board 

• The Executive Board also receives advice from 

the following groups: 

• The Diversity Management Committee - advises 

responsibilities regarding DOLA’s diverse 

workforce and customer base. 

• The Peak Joint Consultative Committee - gives 

feedback from staff on human resource policy and 

industrial relation matters. 

• The Leadership Committee - oversees the imple-

mentation of DOLA’s Leadership Program.

• The Workforce Planning Committee - advises on 

staffi ng in relation to maintaining alignment with 

DOLA’s strategic plan. 

• The Customer Service Council - provides 

the customers’ perspectives on service delivery 

issues. 

• The Tenders Committee - provides independent, 

impartial comment on contracting and procure-

ment proposals for goods and services valued in 

excess of $50,000. 

Risk Management

Risk management is central to good corporate 

governance and is directly linked to maintaining 

an effective control environment. In May 2002, 

DOLA completed a review of its risk management 

framework, which has been in place since 1999. 

The purpose of the review was to ensure that the 

framework not only continues to meet all compliance 

requirements, but also contributes to business per-

formance and achievement of DOLA’s strategic 

goals. The Executive Board will consider the review 

recommendations in the near future. 
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Performance Audit

An internal audit function contributes to sound 

corporate governance by assessing how well the 

agency’s controls operate. DOLA’s Performance 

Audit Branch provides the Chief Executive with inde-

pendent assessments of DOLA’s control environ-

ment.  During 2001-2002, internal audit resources 

were directed to auditing the following business 

systems:

• corporate infrastructure, specifi cally information 

system security, business continuity planning, 

performance indicator reporting, the operational 

performance monitoring system, and the risk 

management framework;

• accounting processes for personnel and payroll, 

procurement, accounts payable and superannua-

tion payments; and 

• asset management for fi xed assets, the land and 

property register, and the Capital User Charge.

National Competition Policy

DOLA has completed reviews of its relevant legisla-

tion in accordance with the Competition Principles 

Agreement and is currently awaiting the introduc-

tion of the National Competition Omnibus Bill to 

enact recommended amendments to the Licensed 

Surveyors Act 1909 and the Valuation of Land Act 

1978.  DOLA is developing a compliance manual 

for staff to ensure competitive neutrality principles 

and competition laws continue to be adhered to 

within the agency. The fi rst draft of the manual has 

been placed on hold pending the outcomes of the 

Machinery of Government Taskforce Review and a 

determination of the future of the agency. 

Enabling Legislation

The Department of Land Administration was estab-

lished on 20 May 1986 and operations began on 1 

July of that year. The Valuer General’s Offi ce was 

established in 1979 by the Valuation of Land Act 

1978. On 30 June 2001, in keeping with section 65 

(2) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the 

Valuer General’s Offi ce merged with DOLA.

DOLA administers numerous Acts of Parliament 

and is affected by more than 100 Acts administered 

by other agencies.  The relevant legislation is listed 

in Appendix A.

DOLA updated its Legislation Register this year to 

include legislation affecting Valuation Services. The 

Register assists the agency to monitor legislation 

affecting DOLA’s operations and assigns responsibil-

ity for monitoring compliance with legislation, as well 

as the review and formulation of related policy.

Western Australian Land Information System 

(WALIS) Office

WALIS is an alliance of State Government agencies, 

local government and an increasing number of 

private organisations. The coordinating body of 

WALIS – the WALIS Offi ce – is situated within 

the DOLA administrative structure.  Acting WALIS 

Director, Jim Rhoads, reports directly to DOLA’s 

Acting Chief Executive Offi cer in his capacity as 

Chairman of the WALIS Executive Policy Committee 

(EPC).

The WALIS EPC is responsible for the strategic 

direction of WALIS and reports to the Minister. The 

members of EPC are the Chief Executive Offi cers of 

all WALIS State Government agencies, a represen-

tative from the WA Municipal Association, and the 

Chairman of the WALIS Advisory Committee. 
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PEOPLE AT DOLA

Changing the Face of DOLA

Responding to a dynamic and changing environ-

ment DOLA has continued to pursue its strategic 

agenda in Human Resources, with organisational 

transformation and succession planning as key 

drivers for the Leadership Program, the Graduate 

Development Program, and the Youth Traineeships 

that commenced this year. Consolidation of our 

strategic people management framework has 

also seen the advancement of a number of ini-

tiatives such as “Perfect Balance” performance 

management system and Grievance Management 

and Resolution, which both started last year.

The Machinery of Government Task Force report 

prepared last year has impacted on DOLA this year 

and it is likely to play a signifi cant part in shaping 

our future. The Valuer General’s Offi ce was merged 

with DOLA in July 2001 and all human resource 

functions were amalgamated from 1 September 

2001. This included the transfer of three HR 

staff from the Valuer General’s Offi ce to Human 

Resource Services Branch.

Considerable work was undertaken on the people 

management aspects of the proposal for DOLA 

to become a Government Business Enterprise. A 

widespread consultation process with all staff took 

place in May. The various options and implications 

were explained to staff in sessions conducted 

jointly by branch managers and HR staff. The Peak 

Joint Consultative Committee was invited to submit 

a report to the Minister on behalf of staff.

In a changing environment, Human Resources 

Branch has responded by providing a sound 

system to support reform. Workforce Services has 

implemented the Concept Web Kiosk. This is a 

self-service personnel and payroll system linked to 

Concept, allowing staff to view and update their own 

details, and to view their payslips Online. The Web 

Kiosk was released to an initial Pilot Group and will 

be progressively expanded in 2002. Jobs Online was 

also implemented, offering an Online Recruitment 

Service to internal and external customers.
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Workforce Planning 

A government committee looking at workforce 

planning initiatives across the Public Sector 

recognised the considerable progress that DOLA 

has made in this area and is using the Agency as 

a case study. The case study will be published in 

Focusing on the Future: Workforce Planning Case 

Studies in the Western Australian Public Sector 

produced by the Department of the Premier and 

Cabinet.

Leadership Program

DOLA’s pilot leadership program was launched in 

September 2001. The objectives of the leadership 

program are to:

• Develop and excite our talented people

• Grow leaders 

• Provide a framework for succession planning 

through developing our generic business skills

• Encourage across agency team building and 

innovation

The program is based on DOLA’s Leadership 

Competency Framework – a fundamental workforce 

planning initiative.

The response to a call for nominations resulted in 67 

applications being received from employees ranging 

from levels three to eight.  The applications were 

shortlisted to 21 and, of these, 12 potential leaders 

were selected to undertake the course. One third of 

the 12 successful candidates were women.

Applicants were assessed on their written applica-

tions and psychometric testing.  The program was 

opened at a two-day residential workshop.  The key 

themes during the workshop were:

• Adopting identifi ed, discrete projects 

• Personal development 

• Future strategic direction of DOLA

To date, the program has incorporated a 

range of development initiatives – from scoping 

and presenting projects as business plans to 

the Executive Board to training on strategic 

thinking, scenario planning and corporate wellness 

activities.

An interim evaluation has recently been conducted 

and feedback from the pilot group will form the 

basis of future development and enhancement of the 

program.  

Graduate Development Program

As part of DOLA’s commitment to workforce 

planning and the development of potential leaders, a 

Graduate Development Program was established in 

October 2001. The fi rst four graduates commenced 

on 11 March 2002 and they are working as project 

offi cers in a range of areas – Organisational Transfor-

mation, Business Development and Land Boundary 

Services/Geographic Services. As part of their devel-

opment they will move on to other projects and be 

involved in professional development opportunities 

during their twelve months.

Graduate Development Program
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Grievance Management 

Following a review of grievance management and 

resolution in DOLA it was identifi ed that a compre-

hensive training program was needed to support the 

implementation of a revised policy. The Grievance 

Management Training Program was introduced 

through a management workshop.  The workshop 

was conducted by a senior legal consultant and 

covered the legal aspects of grievance handling. 

Three hundred and eighty employees have now 

completed a grievance management training 

program conducted in-house by Occupational 

Services. An additional 27 people were trained as 

Peer Support Offi cers.  A two and a half day 

Grievance Management and Resolution Course for 

managers and supervisors was run at Midland and 

Perth.  Eighty-seven managers and supervisors 

were trained this year.

Diversity in the Workplace

DOLA’s integrated approach to managing diversity 

focused on women, youth and Indigenous Austra-

lians this year. The impact of this was refl ected in 

the various initiatives such the Leadership Program, 

the Graduate Development Program and the Youth 

Traineeships.

The Diversity Management Committee, an advisory 

committee to the Executive Board, prepared an 

Equity and Diversity Plan 2001 to 2005 outlining 

Key Strategies for the next four years. Key 

priority areas for Greater Workforce Diversity are 

Indigenous Australians and Youth and these are 

refl ected in the Performance Objectives for 2003 

and 2005, in line with Government policy. Various 

initiatives have been put in place to achieve these 

objectives.

The Peak Joint Consultative Committee (PJCC)

The PJCC is a communication committee made up 

of management and staff from across DOLA, and 

is driven from the grass roots upwards. The PJCC 

has its own Constitution. The Constitution guides 

the committee on meeting procedure, electoral 

procedure and issues that are suitable to take to 

the PJCC.  It provides the terms under which the 

PJCC operates.

The PJCC investigates aspects of concerns and 

instigates remedial actions such as making recom-

mendations for implementing quality programs for 

the advancement of staff welfare and employment 

issues.

Over the past fi nancial year the PJCC has reviewed 

its operations and Constitution and achieved its 

commitment to improve quality of work life for every 

DOLA employee.

The following results were achieved:

• Prepared a submission for the Minister on behalf of 

staff regarding their feedback and concerns on the 

Report of the Review Steering Committee “Future 

of the Department of Land Administration”;

• Prepared a paper for the DOLA Executive on the 

impact on staff of the proposed General Agreement 

and the phasing out of the Workplace Agreements 

which was also submitted to the Minister for her 

information;

• Participated in the development of DOLA’s 

Leadership Program and the selection of the pilot 

group; and

• Provided input and feedback on numerous 

policy and people management initiatives, including 

Workforce Alignment Guidelines, Home Based 

Work Pilot Program, and Grievance Management 

and Resolution Policy.
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 Employee Profi le

     Land Information and Administration Services

     Valuation Services

     Business Support Services

     Business Development 

     Organisational Transformation 

     WALIS

Employee Profile

Following the merger of DOLA and VGO, the 

average FTE level for 2001-2002 was 911 full-time 

equivalent employees. During the year, 46 vacant 

positions were fi lled on a permanent basis.  This 

represented 4.4 per cent of all positions.

Training Employees of the Future 

DOLA continued its commitment to training 

future employees through traineeships and work 

experience programs. There are currently four 

full-time and three part-time entry-level trainees in 

training programs in DOLA. Two entry-level trainees 

completed their traineeship during the year. Work 

experience was also provided for 27 people.

Wellness Program

As part of DOLA’s commitment to wellness and 

promoting a healthy lifestyle a number of infor-

mation sessions on particular health issues were 

held during the year.  These included sessions 

entitled “Healthy Blokes: men’s health issues” and 

“Diabetes Awareness”.  

Subsidised infl uenza vaccinations were offered to 

all staff in May and 105 staff took advantage of the 

opportunity to have their vaccination done on site 

at Midland and in Perth.

Employee Safety, Health and Welfare

A new Occupational Safety and Health Committee 

was appointed following an election late in 2001. 

The new committee has actively promoted occupa-

tional safety and health throughout DOLA.

DOLA once again hosted an information session as 

part of Injury Management Week. Approximately 55 

participants from both the private and public sector 

enjoyed the presentation entitled: “Impact of personal 

issues in the workplace”.

Industrial Agreements

The Public Sector General Agreement was 

introduced by Government in March 2002, and is 

aimed at restoring wage parity across the public 

sector.  With this arrangement DOLA employees are 

now employed under three industrial agreements. 

The General Agreement will be implemented over 

the coming months and Human Resources Branch 

will be negotiating an agency specifi c arrangement in 

line with the General Agreement.

2001-2002
% of employees

58

20

12

8

1

1 
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Workers’ Compensation Statistics for 2001 - 2002

*Rehabilitation Success Rate – the number of rehabilitated employees expressed as a ratio of the number of 

eligible employees (calculated based on Risk Cover parameters).

** Lost time injury/disease frequency rate – the number of lost time injuries/diseases where one day or 

more was lost expressed per million hours worked in this fi nancial year (calculated based on Risk Cover 

parameters).

Employee Assistance Program  

Number of claims

Rehabilitation Success Rate *

Lost time injury/disease frequency rate **

Estimated cost of claims incurred per $100 wage roll

Premium rate

2001-2002

11.00

0.00

2.87

0.18

0.53

2000-2001

11.00

50.00

2.98

0.25

0.39

Employee Assistance Program

Usage Rate

2001-2002

9%

2000-2001

8.6%
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Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 

Compliance Statement

Compliance with Public Sector Management Act 

Section 31(1)

To assess compliance with Section 31(1) of the 

Public Sector Management Act the Department 

contracted Nexus Strategic Solutions to undertake 

an independent audit of our compliance with all 

Human Resource Standards for the 2001 – 2002 

fi nancial year. My report is as follows:

In the administration of the Department I have 

complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human 

Resource Management in relation to; Recruitment 

Selection and Appointment, Transfer, Secondment, 

Performance Management, Redeployment, Termina-

tion, Discipline, Grievance Resolution, the Western 

Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and our 

Code of Business Conduct.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure 

such compliance to satisfy myself that the above 

statement is correct.

The Temporary Deployment (Acting) Standard has 

however been identifi ed as an area for improvement 

within the department as we were not compliant. 

The tightening of internal procedures as well as 

the development of new policies with increased 

manager awareness of this standard will ensure 

future compliance. 

Breach of Standard Applications 2001- 2002

No breach of standards application was lodged 

during the year.

Material Breach of Standards

Not applicable

Investigations

No investigation was undertaken during the year by 

the Offi ce of the Public Sector Standards Commis-

sioner in accordance with section 24 of the Act.

Compliance Audits

No compliance audit was undertaken during the 

year by the Offi ce of the Public Sector Standards 

Commissioner.

Grahame Searle

Acting Chief Executive
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Customers, Stakeholders and 
Community Relations

Customer focus 

As a customer-focused organisation, the provision 

of quality customer service is integral to achieving 

DOLA’s strategic vision for the future.

The fi rst point of contact for many customers is the 

Customer Services Branch of the Land Information 

and Administration Service Directorate. 

DOLA’s Customer Service Charter and Code of 

Business Conduct outline guidelines for customer 

services and ethical behaviour. 

Customer Service Council

DOLA has convened a Customer Service Council 

since 1995 to ensure that the ongoing needs of its 

main customer groups are identifi ed and addressed. 

The quarterly meetings provide a forum for sugges-

tions regarding the improvement of service delivery 

and facilitate the dissemination of information about 

DOLA’s new products and service system enhance-

ments. 

During the year, Council members provided DOLA 

with valuable feedback concerning overall service 

delivery functions and specifi cally sought improve-

ments to DOLA’s fax-back service and the format 

for presentation of title information. As a result, 

improvements to these services were implemented. 

Council members were also updated on new land 

information products such as Agimage, the Land 

and Property Portal Project and Landlinks 2 as 

well as DOLA’s progress in implementing the rec-

ommendations of the Machinery of Government 

Report.
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Industry Group

Surveying Industry

Conveyancing Industry

Mining Industry Interests

Other Industry Group/Person

WA Local Govt. Ass.

-

-

Land Development Industry

Aboriginal/Mining Interests

Landcare/

Pastoralists/Farmers

Real Estate Industry

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

DOLA

Name (s)

Bill Richards

Anne Cooper

Keith Dyer

David Clarke

Wayne Scheggia

Allison Hailes

Cr Juanita Brown

Colin Heath

Vacant

Dr Henry Esbenshade

Kareena Ballard

Grahame Searle

Andrew Burke

Chris Costley

Bruce Heathcote

Rick Murphy

Gary Fenner

Chris Williams

Ian Hyde

Number of meetings 
attended

2

2

1

1

0

0

0

1

N/A

2

2

2

3

3

3

2

2

1

2

Comments

-

-

-

-

WALGA staff providing representation until Councillor 

could be selected.

WALGA staff providing representation until Councillor 

could be selected.

Councillor 

-

-

-

-

CEO

A/Director LIAS

A/Manager CSB

Executive Offi cer

Valuation Services; A/ Chief Valuer-Metropolitan

Valuer General; represented by Brad Mercer at one 

meeting

Chair; 1 meeting,  Left DOLA

Chair; 2 meetings

Customer Service Council Attendees and Attendance 2001 - 2002
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Quality Assurance and the Customer 

Feedback Process 
The Customer Relations and Quality Management 

Section is responsible for implementing and main-

taining quality assurance within DOLA. Currently 

there are three Branches certifi ed to the AS/NZS 

ISO 9001: 2000 standard (Geographic Services, 

Land Administration Services and Customer 

Services). The Registration Services Branch is pro-

gressing towards compliance with this standard and 

certifi cation is planned for early 2002/2003.

A key component of the AS/NZS ISO 9001: 2000 

standard is to measure customer satisfaction to 

determine whether customer requirements have 

been met. To ensure DOLA meets this component, a 

customer feedback procedure has been developed. 

The procedure is documented in the Quality 

Management System and is available on-line to all 

staff.

The procedure describes how customer feedback 

is managed and how DOLA’s customer feedback 

database is used as a monitoring system for this 

information. DOLA Customer Liaison Offi cers enter 

customer feedback into the database, which is then 

distributed to staff for action. Currently there are 

over 40 trained and active Customer Liaison Offi cers 

throughout DOLA.

Customer feedback is defi ned into three broad 

categories - complaints, praise and suggestions. 

The feedback is prioritised based on its urgency 

and importance. This priority determines the turn-

a-round time for responding to the feedback and 

ranges between three and 21 days.

 

 

The focus for obtaining customer feedback has 

been on operational areas and therefore the 

process may not currently capture all of the 

feedback DOLA receives. This is being addressed 

by the training of additional Customer Liaison 

Offi cers in the support Branches and investigating 

new methods of capturing customer feedback. 

These initiatives will further increase the depth 

and breadth of feedback available in the database. 

Previous initiatives, such as the dedicated 

customer feedback line (1300 365 288), have been 

successful and are still being supported.

Trends and key issues that arise from customer 

feedback are reported monthly to management. In 

2001 - 2002, customer feedback has resulted in: 

• Modifi cations to PanAIRama and Street Express;

• Customer concerns taken into consideration within 

a review into privacy issues;

• Increased site visits by Regional Managers from 

the Land Administration Services Branch;

• Review by Land Administration Services Branch to 

determine ways of improving communication with 

their customers about Crown land management;

• Proposed future enhancements of Geodetic On-line 

Access (GOLA);

• Support for the development of a cross-platform 

viewer for SkyView that will allow access for 

Macintosh and other users in a future release;

• Improvements to the presentation and customer 

interaction with SkyView;

• Improved accuracy of information in published 

maps;

• Hardcopy dissemination from SmartPlan has been 

enhanced by implementing new formats with carto-

graphic quality legend and user information; and

• Behaviour identifi cation as an aide in improving 

staff performance.

Praise

Complaints

Suggestions
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DOLA continues to improve its systems for 

managing customer feedback consistent with the 

principles of Quality Assurance, recognising the 

key role that customer feedback has in the develop-

ment of DOLA’s products and services.

Customer seminars

In 2001-2002, DOLA presented ten customer 

seminars on SmartRegister, its new digital titles 

system, to agencies including: the Ministry of 

Planning, WA Police, Home Building Society, 

various arms of REIWA, ANZ Bank, and numerous 

Settlement Agents and Solicitor’s offi ces.  

General information seminars were presented to 

the Wider Vision Club Inc and the REIWA Northern 

Agents Group.  

Throughout the year four “Titles Practice and 

Procedure” seminars were presented to the Article 

Clerks Training Organisation. 

Customer forums, exhibitions and agricultural 

field days

Throughout the year, DOLA participated in several 

forums, exhibitions and regional agricultural fi eld 

days to raise awareness of its products and 

services. Static display and information booths 

featured DOLA’s aerial photography, maps and 

satellite imagery and gave many people the oppor-

tunity to discuss their requirements with DOLA’s 

expert staff. These events included:

• Local Government Week in August 2001

• Dowerin Field Day in August 2001

• Newdegate Machinery Field Day in 

  September 2001

• Moora Agricultural Show in September 2001

• Local Government Managers’ Week in 

  October 2001

• New Home Renovation and Furniture Show in 

October 2001

• Albany Agricultural Show in November 2001

• WALIS Forum in February 2002

• Ideal Home Show in March 2002

• Wagin Woolarama Field Day in March 2002

• Pastoral Industry Forum (Gascoyne Muster) in 

  May 2002

Self-serve facilities for DOLA customers extended

Self-serve facilities have been extended to provide 

network access to DOLA’s SmartPlan information.  

Customers with approved access are able to view, 

search, select and display tenure and cadastral 

information for free.  By using a self-serve access 

card customers can generate, for a fee, colour or 

black and white prints.

Local Government Week

Pastoral Industry Forum
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Customers get cadastral maps with latest 

information

New map templates containing user information, 

legend and geospatial referencing are now available 

for ten different map scales.  The templates allow 

cadastral maps to be produced on demand, using 

the most up-to-date information available on the day 

of purchase.  Customers are also able to obtain this 

information in a range of digital formats. 

The newly introduced Farm Maps have become 

extremely popular and many customers are opting 

to order these customised prints that combine 

cadastral information with imagery.

Internet shopping continues

www.landonline.com.au, DOLA’s Internet shopping 

service, continues to attract a steady fl ow of traffi c 

to the site.  Fishing Hotspots, Practice Manuals, 

Geodetic On-Line Access (GOLA), Touring Maps 

and SkyView WA consistently draw customers.  

The interest generated by SkyView WA online has 

increased sales in aerial photography products.

Information on Website for customers

Products and services information on DOLA’s 

corporate website www.dola.wa.gov.au has been 

improved to assist customers with their online 

enquiries.  Indexes showing coverage, sample 

views, price lists and order forms together with pro-

fessional technical notes; all provide a better under-

standing of the products and services available.

Meeting tailored customer requirements

DOLA offers a range of business solutions for 

customers with specifi c requests.  Through consul-

tation, DOLA is able to provide customers with 

tailored products or give permission for the repro-

duction of DOLA products under licence.

The transition to new DOLA licence agreements 

for “end-users” and “value-added resellers” has 

commenced.  In adopting a more commercial 

approach with customers and business partners, 

DOLA will be better able to defi ne relationships as 

set out in the conditions of agreement.

Joint venture with CALM

DOLA has formed an alliance with the Department 

of Conservation and Land Management (CALM) to 

distribute StreetSmart Touring Maps through CALM’s 

marketing entity ‘WA Naturally’.  DOLA’s StreetSmart 

products will soon be available at CALM’s Statewide 

retail outlets.
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Meeting the needs of all our 
customers 

DOLA has a Disability Service Plan and a 

Languages Services Policy that promote inclusion 

of all its customers when considering improvements 

to services and products. Diversity outcomes for 

customers maintained or achieved this year are 

summarised below.

Disability Service Plan

Outcome 1: Services are adapted to ensure they 

meet the needs of people with disabilities.

• Staff are encouraged to report any specifi c 

services and products that need to be adapted for 

people with disabilities. There were no reports for 

improvements this year.

• The Customer Feedback Database is monitored 

for suggestions on improving service delivery and 

products for people with disabilities. There were 

no suggestions recorded for improving services or 

products during 2001-2002.

• The contents of our web pages and on-line 

services have been assessed against W3C Web 

Content Accessibility Guidelines and improve-

ments have been identifi ed for implementation in 

the future. 

Outcome 2: Access to buildings and facilities is 

improved.

• A courtesy wheelchair is available to customers 

on request at the Information Desk in the 

Customer Service Hall at Midland.

• Refurbishment of Midland’s Customer Service 

Hall will consider the needs of people with disabil-

ities, including signage, layout, seating and colour 

contrasting. (Refurbishment is on hold, awaiting 

full impact of Machinery of Government changes.)

• Emergency evacuation procedures have been put 

in place for people with disabilities, in the event of 

lifts not working.

• Emergency Warning Intercommunication System 

strobe lights are installed in accessible toilets 

to alert people with hearing impairment of an 

emergency evacuation.

Outcome 3: Information and services provided in

formats that meet communication needs of people 

with disabilities

• Better hearing kits providing advice to staff on 

assisting customers with hearing impairment and 

Association for the Blind Handbooks are available 

at public counters.

• Customers are made aware that information can 

be made available in alternative formats upon 

request where practical.

Outcome 4: Advice and services are delivered by 

staff who are aware of and understand the needs of 

people with disabilities

• The updated induction program for new employees 

will include information to raise awareness about 

customers with disabilities.

• For 2001-2002, it was planned to scope the fea-

sibility and risks associated with establishing and 

maintaining an up to date register of DOLA staff 

who have expertise in the disabilities area (eg 

experience as care assistant or social trainer). 

This strategy is on hold, awaiting full impact of 

Machinery of Government changes.

Outcome 5: Opportunities are provided for people 

with disabilities to participate in public consultation, 

grievance mechanisms and decision-making 

processes

• Complaint and Customer Feedback mechanisms 

are available in appropriate formats for people with 

disabilities.

• Contact name, phone and fax number, web site 

address and telephone typewriter (TTY) number 

are included on all printed pamphlets and publica-

tions (including letterhead).
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Languages Services Policy

Outcome:  Language is not a barrier to service for 

customers with limited English fluency or hearing 

impairments

• Staff routinely ask clients, especially at the point of 

fi rst contact, whether they require an interpreter or 

translated material and if so, in what language.

• New Language Services, Better Hearing Kits and 

Association for the Blind Handbooks are distrib-

uted to customer service areas in metropolitan and 

regional offi ces. 

• A Language Skills Register is maintained that lists 

staff who can speak, read or write in languages 

other than English, to assist customers in the fi rst 

instance.  This assistance does not replace access 

to the Commonwealth Translating and Interpreting 

Service.

Community Focus

DOLA prides itself on its relationship with the 

community and during the past year, the Corporate 

Communications Branch conducted the following 

programs:

International Women’s Day breakfast

DOLA celebrated its fi fth annual International 

Women’s Day breakfast earlier in the year.

Keynote speaker Anne MacBeth, spoke about 

the growing focus on sustainability of community 

resources brought about by a major global read-

justment for the 21st century. Among the guests 

were Planning and Infrastructure Minister Alannah 

MacTiernan, Police Minister Michelle Roberts and 

other women in high-profi le roles in the Midland 

area. Local business representatives also attended 

the breakfast, as well as a large contingent of DOLA 

staff. StateWest Credit Society helped sponsor the 

annual breakfast. 

Swan Valley Discovery Competition

The 2001-2002 Swan Valley Discovery Competition 

celebrated its 10th anniversary and attracted 1,261 

entries from sixteen schools in the Swan Valley 

region. This competition is designed to encourage 

an interest in the heritage, culture, history and 

geography of the region. It is open to primary and 

secondary schools and supported by the City of 

Swan. 

International Women’s Day breakfast

Swan Valley Discovery Competition
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James E Hall presentation 

In November 2001, Mr James E Hall, Project 

Manager of GIS Utility in New York City, gave a pre-

sentation on the innovative use of mapping and land 

information during the emergency response to the 

terrorist attacks on the World Trade Centre.  The pre-

sentation provided insight into ways that Perth can 

set up a similar integrated land information system 

to better utilise the information we have.

The Perth presentation was jointly sponsored by 

DOLA, AURISA, WALIS, FESA and Fugro Spatial 

Solutions.

Red Cross blood donation 

Since the last of the mobile blood clinics was held 

at DOLA in July 2000, staff continued to demon-

strate their community spirit by donating at times 

of their own choosing, at the new Red Cross 

blood collection unit in Midland.   A total of 259 

blood donations were made by DOLA staff, 99 of 

which were made during the annual Summer Blood 

Challenge (between December 2001 and February 

2002).  DOLA were awarded second place in the 

Challenge.          

 

Schools get aerial photographs

DOLA distributed its superceded aerial photographs 

in CD format (PanAIRama) covering Perth and some 

regional areas to all primary and secondary schools 

in the State.  This was done with a view to promoting 

aerial photography as an educational tool amongst 

students and teachers.

Red Cross blood donation James E Hall presentation Schools get aerial photographs
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Products and services

47 Managing the Government estate
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56 Output – Management and use of 

 Government land

59 Ensuring security of land ownership 

64 Output – Land information

71 Effective and impartial valuation and

 property information service

73 Outputs – Rating and Taxing Valuations, 

 Other Valuations and Advisory  Services

80 Access to Government land information

82 Output – Access to Government land 

 information

85 Directors Report
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PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
(BY OUTCOMES)

Managing the Government Estate

Desired Outcome

Government land is managed and used to support 

the economic, social and cultural objectives of the 

State.

One of DOLA’s main roles is the management of 

Western Australia’s Crown land, which comprises 

over two million square kilometres, or 93% of the 

State. 

Land Administration Services Branch administers 

policies and strategies to meet the land needs 

of the Western Australian Government and 

community.

WA Land Tenure

State forest and timber 

reserves

Reserves

Unallocated Crown land (1)

Pastoral Leases

Other leases

Private freehold

Total

Area 
(000’s km)

19.4

419.1

921.3

900.3

85.1

182.4

2527.6

%

1

16

37

36

3

7

100

TENURE TYPE

Aboriginal reserves

Unmanaged reserves

National parks and con-

servation reserves

Reserves managed by 

local governments

Other managed reserves

TOTAL

AREA 
(000’s km2)

202.90

22.90

171.20

4.92

17.97

419.89

%

48%

6%

40%

2%

4%

100%
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Review of Land Administration Services

An internal review of Land Administration Services 

was commenced to ensure that the structure of 

the Branch has the fl exibility to be able to meet 

future customer objectives.  As part of this process a 

concise business plan is being developed to 

provide purpose, vision and goals for the short, 

medium and long term. 

In addition, work has commenced to identify 

competency standards in land administration with 

the view to linking to national competency standards 

being developed by Land NSW.  DOLA is also 

working on a training strategy that will provide skills 

recognition and development in land administration.  

A comprehensive Crown Land Practices Manual 

was also developed and initial training undertaken 

in May 2002.  It is proposed to publicly release the 

manual in 2002/03.

Arising from the structural review a redistribution of 

Regional boundaries was undertaken between the 

Midwest, Southwest and Southeast Regions.  As 

a result of the Machinery of Government reforms, 

DOLA completed the transfer of Crown land devel-

opment to LandCorp, which included fi nalising the 

transfer of some 1,005 Crown subdivisional lots in 

freehold title to LandCorp. 

Review of Public Works Property

A specifi c database was established for DOLA’s 

public works property portfolio.  However, further 

work awaits the fi ndings from an inter-departmental 

Property Working Group established to consider 

the future management of these Government land 

assets.

A preliminary rationalisation of the portfolio has 

been undertaken with some properties being sold 

and several the subject of negotiation for purchase 

with LandCorp.  New lease documentation is 

currently being prepared for the 29 Northbridge 

properties for a lease term of fi ve years.

Native Title Policy Support

DOLA provided specialist technical support on 

land tenure and native title issues relating to the 

future act processes under the Native Title Act 

for several major Government projects.  Offi cers 

attend monthly strategic meetings of the agencies 

involved in native title processes.  The Unit 

continues to be directly involved in implementing 

consent determinations by the Federal Court and 

processing land matters in accordance with the 

provisions of the Native Title Act.

Service Corridors Legislation

On behalf of the Department of Mineral and 

Petroleum Resources, DOLA is coordinating the 

drafting of legislation to enable the State to have a 

consistent legislative approach for the identifi cation 

and acquisition of land when required for major infra-

structure corridors.  It is intended the corridors will 

provide a transportation link between resources and 

industry in regional areas.
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Native Title

DOLA issued notices under the Native Title Act 

and the Land Administration Act covering 97 land 

proposals subject to either the right to negotiate, the 

right to object and be consulted, or procedural rights 

for the development of public works.

These included proposals for: 

• residential and light industrial developments in 

Karratha and Ravensthorpe;

• residential land in Glen Forest; 

• residential developments in Wyalkatchem and 

Cervantes; 

• light industrial developments in Cue, Dumbleyung 

and Merredin; 

• land for several Aboriginal groups; 

• a proposed motel and accommodation site in 

Munglinup; 

• a retirement village in Albany; and 

• six power stations in towns in the Mid West 

Region.

24 of these proposals have or will be able to 

proceed as native title claimants did not lodge 

objections.  These include a proposed caravan park 

in Ledge Point, aged persons’ accommodation in 

Port Denison and a residential development in Dun-

sborough.

A further three proposals have or will proceed 

because objections were withdrawn following con-

sultation.  These relate to sale of land for amalga-

mation, sale of land for extension to a caravan park 

and a wind farm, all in the Exmouth Region.

Agreements were reached enabling a further three 

proposals to proceed.  These consist of land for 

industrial purposes on the Burrup (part of a larger 

proposal), land for horticulture at Turner River and 

expansion of the area leased by the Wangkat-

jungka Aboriginal Group.

Central Issuing Office

The Central Issuing Offi ce (CIO) contracts Crown 

surveys for Government agencies, local government 

and the community.  The defi nition of land 

boundaries by survey is often necessary before an 

action on Government land can proceed.  Co-ordina-

tion of survey contracts by CIO ensures that surveys 

undertaken are both cost effective and delivered in a 

timely manner.   CIO issued 326 survey contracts in 

relation to various land actions.

Epic pipeline venture

DOLA is in the process of acquiring State corridor 

rights over: 

• the existing Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas 

Pipeline corridor; and 

• a widened corridor for the transportation of natural 

gas from the north-west to markets in the south 

west of the State.  

The acquisition process is being administered by the 

Gas Pipeline Sale Steering Committee with DOLA 

providing advice and the statutory mechanisms to 

achieve the eventual acquisition of rights.  Valuation 

advice is also provided through the Valuer General 

on land acquisition matters.

The acquisition process is expected to reach 

practical completion by the end of 2002, with the 

result being a 100 metre wide gas transportation Natural Gas Pipeline
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corridor between Dampier and Bullsbrook.  A signifi -

cant gas lateral corridor is being developed, linking 

Oakajee with the mineral developments in the north-

eastern Goldfi elds.

Crown Land Administrators’ Forum

In November 2001, DOLA hosted the Crown Land 

Administrators’ Forum which was attended by repre-

sentatives from all States and territories and New 

Zealand.  The forum focused on sharing knowledge 

and experience on common areas of activity and 

on assisting each jurisdiction on a range of current 

issues.  These issues include contaminated sites, 

telecommunications facilities on Crown land, air 

rights tenure over Crown land, strategic asset 

management planning and e-business solutions for 

Crown land.

Pastoral Lands Board

Pastoral leases account for 36 per cent of Western 

Australian land.  This translates to 527 pastoral 

leases covering about 95 million hectares and 494 

stations. 

The Minister for Lands is responsible for the 

appointment of members of the Pastoral Lands 

Board (PLB).

Under section 97(1) of the Land Administration Act 

1997, the primary role of the Board is to ensure 

that pastoral leases are managed in an ecologically 

sustainable manner and in accordance with lease 

conditions and relevant legislation.  Members of the 

Board represent environmental, ecological, con-

servation and Aboriginal interests.  The Board 

is required to provide assistance or advice as 

required by the Minister in relation to the adminis-

tration of pastoral leases.

DOLA contributes to the activities of the PLB by 

providing land information expertise to assist the 

Board’s work, as well as substantial operational 

support.  DOLA also provides the Board with 

clerical and executive assistance, offi ce accom-

modation, drafting, conveyancing, information 

technology, a fi nancial management system for the 

collection of rents on leases and its land regis-

tration system.  With the Valuer General’s Offi ce 

now being part of DOLA, rent assessment is also 

provided.

Board members who are not employees of 

Government departments receive a sitting fee of 

$186 per meeting.  The Chairperson receives an 

honorarium of $56 per hour, up to a maximum of 

16 hours per week, for Board business undertaken 

outside meetings.  The Board met ten times in 

2001-2002.

Interest Groups %

Foreign Ownership 3

Other Companies  37

Mining Companies 10

Individuals 50

Total 100

Percentages of pastoral leases held by different interest groups



5 1  |  D O L A Contents  |  Year in Review  |  Review of Operations  |  Products and Services   |  Financial Statement  |  Appendices  |  Glossary

Board membership and attendance

Max Cameron (Chairperson)

Graeme Robertson

Sandra Eckert

Joe de Pledge

Susan Bradley

David Fitzgerald 
(appointment ceased 30 April 2002)

David Wilcox

Kevin Walley

David Hartley for Graeme Robertson

Farmer and Company Director

Director General, Department of Agriculture

Legal Offi cer and appointee of the Chief Executive Offi cer, DOLA

Pastoralist, Mandora Station and member of the Pastoralist and Graziers 

Association

Pastoral Station Manager, Theda and Doongan Stations

Retired pastoralist and member of the Pastoralist and Graziers 
Association

Consultant in natural resource management, formerly Principal 
Rangeland Management Offi cer in the Department of Agriculture

Member of the Central Agricultural and Pastoral Aboriginal Corporation 
and Chairperson of the Bundundea Aboriginal Corporation, Belele and 
Buttah stations

Executive Director, Sustainable Rural Development and appointee of the 
Director General, Department of Agriculture

Meetings attended

10/10

8/10

9/10

9/10

9/10

8/10

10/10

9/10

2/2

Deputy members are:

– Tim D’Arcy for Mr de Pledge

– Lindsay Lockyer for Mr Walley

– Margot Steadman for Mr Fitzgerald (appointment 

as Deputy ceased 30 April 2002)

– The industry member positions previously held by 

David Fitzgerald and his deputy, Margot Steadman 

(up to 30 April 2002) were still vacant as at 30 

June 2002, pending new appointments.
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In 2001-2002, a number of strategic business 

objectives were implemented, including the:

• Creation of a Project and Compliance Offi cer 

position;

• The distribution of the Application for Diversifi ca-

tion Permit over Pastoral Leases;

• The distribution of “The Gascoyne Muster” Forum 

proceedings.

The Board held a regional meeting in Mt Magnet in 

August 2001 and attended a public meeting in Derby 

in April 2002 to discuss issues of access on Yeeda 

station.

In May 2002, the Hon Alannah MacTiernan, Minister 

for Planning and Infrastructure, in conjunction with 

the PLB, hosted a forum in Carnarvon to address 

relevant topics, challenges and opportunities to the 

pastoral industry.  The Forum was named “The 

Gascoyne Muster”.

The forum was run over two days and focused 

on land tenure, public and Aboriginal access and 

multiple use of pastoral leases.  Almost 300 pasto-

ralists and interested parties attended the Forum 

including several parliamentary members, past and 

present.

An outcome of the Forum was the Minister’s 

initiative to create working groups to address the 

issues identifi ed as being most relevant, which 

include:

• Alternative Models Of Land Tenure

• Pastoralism For Sustainability

• Access To Pastoral Leases

• Aboriginal Access Issues

• Pastoral Industry Economic Monitoring Require-

ments

The following approvals were granted in 

2001-2002:

Permission to sell 34

Permission to transfer 34

Permits 8

Permission to sub-lease 3

Permission to de-stock 4

Permission to establish a domestic 1

goat grazing enterprise

Default notices issued 5

Strategic Planning for the Pastoral Lands Board

Strategic planning for the PLB was held in 

abeyance during the 2001-2002 period as the 

future role and structure of DOLA was under 

review.  The specifi c outputs under the proposed 

consultancy remain as below:

• The development of a high level strategic plan 

suitable for publishing in a fold-out brochure format 

which includes: 

• A vision and mission for the Board;

• The role and responsibilities of the Board in admin-

istering pastoral leases as developed in consulta-

tion with the Board and stakeholders; 

• A list of goals and strategic initiatives to be 

achieved by the Board between 2001-2003.

• A document mapping out the relationships 

between the Board and stakeholders (including 

State government agencies, industry bodies, Com-

monwealth agencies, regional bodies, conservation 

groups, Aboriginal representative parties).

• A report addressing the process undertaken and 

outcomes achieved from the consultancy.

Both the Manager and the Project and Compliance 

Offi cer positions remain unfi lled at this time.   The 

Valuer General has commenced a review of pastoral 

leases to apply from 2004.
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Regional overview

Kimberley

The Kimberley Team continues to assist in the 

implementation of the Waterbank Structure Plan, 

which will guide future development in Broome for 

the next 20-30 years.  Work continues on the 

relocation of the Broome International Airport, the 

proposed Regional Prison, horticultural and residen-

tial subdivisions and identifi cation of suitable land for 

a future marina and boat harbour.

Investigation and negotiations relating to the 

proposed tidal power plant to provide renewable 

energy to the West Kimberley are also being 

pursued.

The Team is assisting in a land development 

structure plan to guide future development in the 

Lake Argyle region and ensuring community consul-

tation on major projects through involvement with 

the Ord River Waterways Management Group and 

other community land groups.

Pilbara

Work continues on resolving the conditions of a 

development lease and licence for the proposed 

Exmouth marina land development project being 

undertaken on a project management basis by 

LandCorp. 

Considerable work was undertaken to support 

resource projects in the Karratha, Burrup and 

Port Hedland areas through consultation with 

proponents, suppliers, local Government and 

Government agencies.  Advice and assistance was 

provided, with fast tracking land releases for the 

Karratha townsite expansion including land for res-

idential, light industrial and transient workforce 

accommodation.  The joint venture development 

lease was fi nalised with Clough/Rapley Wilkinson 

to supply developed residential land over the next 

three years, to meet expected demand for more 

than 400 home sites in Karratha.

The Valuer General has been consulted in relation 

to providing an independent view of arrangements 

related to Native Title issues on the Burrup 

Peninsula.

The Team facilitated the establishment of the 

National Maritime Safety Authority and Bureau of 

Metrology facility east of Wiluna to meet Australia’s 

commitments to maritime safety.

Mid-West

The Team participated on a steering committee 

and an industry liaison group to progress a major 

transport corridor joining Geraldton’s industrial area 

to the port via a southern route, enabling the railway 

to be removed from the foreshore.  Assistance was 

also provided for the proposed harbour upgrade and 

foreshore redevelopment.
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The development of Indian Ocean Drive along 

the coast between Lancelin and Cervantes is a 

major land assembly project involving a partnership 

between DOLA and the Department of Defence.  

DOLA is providing advice with respect to land 

acquisition and assembly and will perform the land 

assembly tasks.

Leasing arrangements at Monkey Mia were fi nalised 

to facilitate the expansion and upgrading of the 

tourist accommodation facilities.  An associated 

component of this project is to resolve potential land 

use confl icts associated with public access to the 

boat ramps and jetty.

In consultation with the Shire of Carnarvon, 

Department of Planning and Infrastructure and 

the Department of Conservation and Land 

Management, a draft Carnarvon Coastal Strategy 

was developed to deal with future planning of the 

coastal area between the blowholes north of the 

northern boundary of Ningaloo Station.

Assistance was provided to the Shire of 

Dandaragan to implement the Government’s 

squatter shack policy and recreational shacks on 

reserves controlled by the Shire of Dandaragan 

have now been removed.  All Shires on the Central 

Coast area have now completed implementation of 

the squatter shack policy and the next step is to 

work with them to rationalise the land tenure along 

the coast.

Metropolitan

The Metropolitan Regional Team provided 

assistance on a range of Government land 

projects including Jervoise Bay, Perth Convention 

and Exhibition Centre, Scarborough High School, 

Northbridge Tunnel and the Burswood link road.  

The Team also and assisted the Midland Redevel-

opment Authority with land tenure issues.

The Team assisted with land disposal and rationali-

sation programs of Local Government and other 

Government agencies including, City of Melville, 

Education Department of WA and the Fremantle 

Port Authority.

The Team also assisted the Rottnest Island Board 

with rationalisation of their legislation and land 

matters.

South-West

To assist with the construction of the new Harvey 

Dam, the Team provided specialist land administra-

tion expertise to identify and resolve complex land 

tenure issues.  These included road closure, identifi -

cation of native title and Aboriginal heritage issues, 

rationalisation of reserves, negotiating and selling 

of surplus Crown land and liaison with Water Corpo-

ration and private contractors to identify potential 

problems and provide solutions to enable the project 

to progress in a timely manner.

They also assisted the Department for Planning and 

Infrastructure by providing solutions to a number of 

land tenure issues associated with the development 

of canals and an associated residential subdivision 

at Dawesville.
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The Team continues work to clear legal constraints 

concerning the Mandurah Marina - Residential and 

Commercial development, and continues to provide 

advice to both LandCorp and the private developers 

on issues impacting the development.

The Team also participated in strategic meetings with 

members of the Government’s Forest Policy Imple-

mentation Offi ce for the provision of land solutions 

to facilitate the sale of the Pemberton Mill Site.  

The solutions provided include, lease management 

options, amending reserve descriptions, negotiations 

with the leaseholder on valuations of improvements 

and options for subdivisional development of the 

remaining mill houses.

South-East

The South-East Team has participated in, and had 

continuous involvement assisting Main Roads WA, 

the City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder and Kalgoorlie Con-

solidated Gold Mines with the proposed realign-

ment of the Kalgoorlie Eastern Bypass and the 

realignment of the Lookline tourist railway corridor.

The Team participated in negotiations for the 

provision of land for a railway and service road 

corridor to support the proposed extension to 

Partman iron ore project, north east of 

Koolyanobbing.

In conjunction with LandCorp, residential and 

industrial lots were provided to meet community 

requirements and support the Ravensthorpe Nickel 

Project.

The Team also attends meetings of and provides 

assistance to the South Coast Management Group 

on land issues relating to the coastal zone from 

Denmark to the South Australian border.

Capital Expenditure on land development projects

In line with the recommendations of the Machinery of 

Government Taskforce Report, the function of Crown 

land development has been transferred from DOLA 

to LandCorp as of 1 July 2001.  Readers may wish to 

refer to LandCorp’s Annual Report for details.
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Key Performance Indicators and 
Output Measures 

Outcome – Government land is managed and 

used to support the economic, social and cultural 

objectives of the State.

Output – Management and Use of 

Government Land

Output description: Government land is allocated 

and administered for residential, commercial, 

industrial, conservation, heritage and other 

community purposes.

Effectiveness Indicator (audited by the Offi ce of the 

Auditor General): 

Percent of customers satisfi ed that the management 

and use of Government land is supporting the 

State’s economic, social and cultural objectives°. 

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Government estate is managed and used for 

the benefi t of the community through the delivery 

of cost effective land administration services that 

provide Government land for parks, reserves, 

roads, public works and sporting, recreational and 

cultural facilities. The extent to which customers 

are satisfi ed that the local community’s economic, 

social and cultural objectives are supported by 

DOLA’s Government land administration services is 

an indicator of DOLA’s effectiveness in meeting this 

outcome.

Satisfi ed

Neither/Nor

Dissatisfi ed

Don’t know

Sample size

Standard error

Actual
1998-1999

59%

16%

21%

  4%

140

+/-2.1

Actual
1999-2000

66%

 9%

18%

 7%

145

+/-3.9

Actual
2000-2001

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

Actual
2001-2002

73%

14%

12%

  1%

149

+/-2.9

How was the indicator derived?

The primary users of DOLA’s Government 

land administration services are other State 

Government agencies and local governments.  A 

customer survey conducted by independent con-

sultants asked these customers to rate their 

satisfaction with DOLA’s services in meeting 

the community’s economic, social and cultural 

needs.  Local government customers responded in 

relation to their local communities and Government 

agencies responded in terms of their agency’s per-

spective of the State’s community needs. 

What does the indicator show?

Of the 149 customers surveyed, 73.2% were 

satisfi ed that the outcomes of DOLA’s management 

and use of Government land met the State’s 

objectives. This is a positive result, exceeding 

the target of 70% satisfaction, and showing a signifi -

cant improvement on the result of the last survey 

undertaken in 1999/2000, which was 66% satisfi ed. 

Overall, nearly 33% of respondents gave a high sat-

isfaction rating of eight or more out of ten.

Percentage of customer satisfaction with Government land outcomes (Target – 70%)

° This indicator is different to the ones listed on page 848 
in the 2001-2002 Budget Statements, and it was last used 
in 1999-2000. It replaces last year’s indicator: ‘Customer 
complaints per 1000 

Government land actions’. The indicator: ‘Percentage of 
active towns with land stocks’ is no longer relevant as 
DOLA’s land development function was transferred to 
LandCorp on 30 June 2001.
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Efficiency Indicator, incorporating output quantity 

and cost measures (audited by the Office of the 

Auditor General)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Government land actions represent the principle 

outputs of DOLA’s Government land services to the 

State. They include the creation and cancellation 

of leases, reserves and roads, the transfer of 

Crown land into the freehold environment and 

other registrable transactions required under the 

Land Administration Act 1997. Therefore, the cost 

per Government land action is a useful effi ciency 

indicator for this outcome.  

How was the indicator derived?

This indicator is derived by dividing the total cost 

of producing Government land actions (including all 

direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 

and overhead recurrent costs) by the number of 

Government land actions. 

A Government land action is counted when a 

document is created by staff from the Land 

Administration Services Branch via the Document 

Processing System and lodged at DOLA’s 

acceptance counter.

What does the indicator show?

This year’s total cost was divided by the 6,117 

Government land actions to arrive at the average 

cost of $2,563 per Government land action. The 

actual average unit cost is 31% higher than the 

target. This is because the costs are relatively fi xed, 

and the number of land actions was 18% lower 

than anticipated. 

The lower number of actions can be explained 

in part as a result of two unplanned special 

projects undertaken this year: the transfer of 

DOLA’s developed land stock to LandCorp, and the 

creation of titles for the Northbridge Tunnel Project. 

Due to the critical project deadlines, individual 

transactions were not created in the document 

processing system in the usual way, and were 

therefore not counted with other Government 

land actions. Together these projects would 

have accounted for more than 1,200 individual 

Government land actions, which in turn would have 

resulted in an average cost of $2,143 per action, 

representing a less than 9.9% variance.  

Number of Government land actions 

Average cost per Government land action 

Actual 
2000-2001

8648

$1691

Target
2001-2002

7500

$1950

Actual
2001-2002

6117

$2563

Average cost per Government land action
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Quality Measure

Maintain ISO 9002:1994 Quality Assurance for 

Government land actions processes

Land Administration Services Branch maintains the 

ISO 9002:1994 Quality Assurance standard for the 

management of Government land actions.  This 

is audited every six months by DOLA’s Quality 

Assurance review agency – Benchmark Pty Ltd.

The core operations of the branch are documented 

and verifi ed through an external certifi cation 

process, which is subject to a continuous external 

review and audit process, in order to ensure the 

standard is maintained.  To support this process, 

35 internal audits were also undertaken during the 

year. 

Timeliness Measure

Government land actions completed within target 

time

A target time of 15 days has been set from the date 

a Government land action (registrable Document 

Processing System document) is sent for lodgment 

to the date it is actually lodged at the Acceptance 

Section of the Customer Services Branch.  This 

was a better than anticipated timeliness result, 

which matched the previous year’s performance for 

completing Government land actions.

ISO 9002:1994 Quality Assurance for Government 

land action processes

Actual
2000-2001

Achieved 

Target
2001-2002

Maintained 

Actual
2001-2002

Maintained 

Government land actions completed within target 

time

Actual
2000-2001

97%  

Target
2001-2002

85% 

Actual
2001-2002

97% 

Timeliness Measure 

Quality Measure
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Ensuring Security of Land Ownership

Desired Outcome

The State’s administrative, commercial and social 

systems are supported by a land information base 

and certainty of ownership and other interests in 

land.

A fundamental requirement in all land dealings 

is the certainty of land ownership, or tenure, 

supported by reliable land information. DOLA 

provides the Western Australian community with 

a simple, secure system of document registration, 

which guarantees land ownership, and a wealth of 

accurate geographic information.

SmartRegister

Western Australia’s fi rst digital land titles system, 

SmartRegister, was introduced on December 11, 

2000. The new system incorporates the examination 

of strata documents and strata title production.  On 

19 February 2001, SmartRegister was extended 

to freehold document examination and new title 

production.

The back-capture of approximately 881,000 live 

titles, including Crown land titles, commenced with 

the launch of SmartRegister. Over ninety-three 

percent of paper titles have now been converted to 

digital format.

Creating a digital titles register lays the foundation 

for e-commerce – one of DOLA’s strategic 

objectives. 

The SmartRegister project aligns with DOLA’s 

fi ve-year strategic plan – New Horizons – which 

demonstrates a strong commitment to online initia-

tives.

SmartPlan

Major enhancements were made to SmartPlan 

during 2001-2002. These include the synchronisa-

tion of data between the mainframe and the new 

client server environments, and the replacement 

of the present mainframe graphics display system 

for external users.  As a result, SmartPlan now 

provides a user-friendly interface between DOLA’s 

separate digital land information data systems.  

Through an Internet feature called LandLinks WA, 

customers are now able to access cadastral data 

remotely.

Quality assurance initiatives

Currently, the following branches in DOLA are 

certifi ed to AS/NZS ISO 9001: 2000 standard:

• Geographic Services Branch

• Land Administration Services Branch

• Customer Services Branch

The Registration Services Branch is progressing 

towards compliance and certifi cation is anticipated 

for early 2002-2003.

Community Titles Advisory Committee

The Community Titles Advisory Committee (CTAC) 

was formed in late 1997, to meet the Government’s 

commitment to the ongoing review of the Strata Titles 

Act. The Committee’s second term expired at the end 

of 2001.

The Committee has recently been reconstituted for 

a further two year term for the purpose of assisting 

DOLA with its current review of parts of the Strata 

Titles Act 1985.  The fi rst meeting of the new 

Committee is scheduled for July 2002.

The objectives of CTAC are to consider proposals 

for legislative change in relation to properties 

with separate lots and shared services. DOLA 

provides administrative and operational support to 

the Committee.

Non-government members of the Committee are 

paid a sitting fee of $50 per meeting.

During the year the Committee considered topics 

under review and upgrade as part of the two-year 

review project being conducted by DOLA. Members 

of CTAC will liaise with DOLA offi cers undertaking 

the review, to develop solutions to the problems 

identifi ed and will be responsible for reviewing the 

recommendations put forward.
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Ed McKinnon (Chair)

Ann Hunter

Replaced by Shirley McMurdo

Robert Kronberger

Cr. Alan Richardson

Mescal Stephens

Peter Munday

Wayne Reynolds

Vernon Butterly

David Clark

Alistair Millar

Karen Richardson

Bill Edwards 

Richard Johnson

Ruth Geneff

Henry Houghton

Replaced by Bruce Roberts

David Parry (Executive Offi cer)

The Committee Members June to 
December 2001 were:

Land Surveyor and Company Director 

Department for Planning and Infrastructure (formerly 

Ministry for Planning) nominee

Offi ce of the Strata Title Referee nominee

Western Australian Municipal Association (now Western 

Australian Local Government Assoc.)nominee

Offi ce of Water Regulation nominee

Real Estate Institute of Western Australia nominee

Australian Institute of Conveyancers, WA Division nominee

Urban Development Institute of Australia, WA Division 

nominee

Law Society of Western Australia nominee

Institution of Surveyors Australia (WA Division) nominee

Strata Titles Institute of Western Australia nominee

Single-Tier nominee

Single-Tier nominee

Multi-Tier nominee

Department of Land Administration representative

Department of Land Administration

4/4

0/1

2/3

4/4

4/4

1/4

4/4

4/4

2/4

2/4

3/4

4/4

4/4

4/4

3/3

1/1

3/3

4/4

Meetings
Attended

At present nominations from some member bodies for the reconstituted committee are awaited.
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International services

DOLA International offers other countries world-

class technical assistance and advice about land 

administration and land registration. These activities 

provide the State with export income, stimulate local 

business opportunities and encourage trade and 

cultural exchange. Since its inception in 1992, DOLA 

International has secured consultancies worth more 

than $16 million.

In 2000-2001, DOLA’s International team concen-

trated on the following major projects:

• Sri Lanka - DOLA International was successful 

in winning a new World Bank funded Project, 

the Sri Lanka Land Titling and Related Services 

Project Technical Assistance (TA) in partnership 

with SAGRIC International Pty Ltd, based in 

South Australia. The TA is valued at approximately 

$2.7 million, commenced in March 2002 and 

is scheduled for completion in July 2004. The 

project is being conducted as a World Bank 

Learning and Innovation Loan with the intent of 

developing and assessing improved land adminis-

tration procedures for Sri Lanka.

• Bangladesh - DOLA and its partners have almost 

completed the ADB funded Bangladesh Land 

Administration Reform Project, which is the third 

of three phases of a Technical Assistance 

program carried out by DOLA and its partners. 

DOLA’s partners on the project were the NSW 

Land and Property Information Offi ce, Overseas 

Projects Corporation of Victoria, Bangladesh 

Engineering & Technological Services, and Info-

Consult Bangladesh.

• Trinidad & Tobago - Implementation of the 

Inter American Development Bank funded Institu-

tional Strengthening of the Registrar General’s 

Department Project. This has been undertaken 

by DOLA together with the NSW Land Titles Inter-

national and Overseas Projects Corporation of 

Victoria. The project is now nearing completion.

Sharing our expertise with the world

Through the international program, DOLA hosted 

two ministerial visits; one from China and one 

from Malaysia. The visit by the Minister of Land 

and Resources of the People’s Republic of China 

concluded with the signing of a Memorandum 

of Understanding that provides for further coop-

eration in the fi elds of “Training and Research 

related to Land and Resources”. The visit by the 

Minister of Land and Cooperative Development of 

Malaysia was requested to enable the study of the 

operations of a modern land registration offi ce, with 

a particular focus on strata title issues.

In addition to the Ministerial visits, DOLA conducted 

three study tours for groups from Malaysia and Tibet. 

These study tours and Ministerial visits involved 

some 47 overseas visitors studying our world-class 

land administration systems.

International services - Bangladesh
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Property street addressing

The Property Street Address project was estab-

lished in January 1997 to standardise and capture 

property street addresses throughout Western 

Australia.  DOLA coordinates the project with coop-

eration and sponsorship from local Government and 

various State and Federal agencies.  It also leads a 

working group that provides guidelines on standard-

ising addresses throughout Australia.

As well as creating a distance-based numbering 

system for rural properties, DOLA has also created 

new – and is validating existing – addresses in the 

metropolitan area and country towns for the purpose 

of strata titles.

Project results to date:

• All metropolitan addresses have been captured 

and the data is currently being refi ned and 

validated;

• 93 percent of rural addresses have been captured 

from aerial photography;

• 89 percent of rural addresses have been validated 

in the fi eld;

• 97 percent of country town addresses have been 

validated; and

• 36 percent of local governments have accepted 

country town address validations.

The data will be regularly maintained and updated 

by the Geographic Names Section.

Geographic Names Committee

The Geographic Names Committee is appointed 

by the Minister for Lands to provide advice on the 

naming of townsites, suburbs, localities, roads and 

other features. It met three times in 2001/2002. 

Dr Patrick Armstrong, the representative of the 

Department of Geography, University of Western 

Australia, has now resigned from the Committee. 

Dr Armstrong had served on the Committee for 

14 years, and his service and contribution was 

commended by the Committee. Sitting fees are 

paid to the two non-Government employees.

Members and their attendance:

Andrew Burke    DOLA (Chairman)     3/3 meetings

Kevin Trent    Main Roads Western Australian   3/3 meetings

Harvey Tipping    Department for Planning & Infrastructure  3/3 meetings

Graham Hoare    Dept. of Conservation & Land Mgt   3/3 meetings

Patrick Armstrong   Dept. of Geography, University of W A    1/3 meeting

Russell Burnett    Urban Development Inst. Aus. (WA Div)  3/3 meetings

Chris Coggin    Library and Information Service of WA   2/3 meetings

Douglas Brown    Australia Post      3/3 meetings

Brian Dawson    Dept. of Mineral and Petroleum Resources  3/3 meetings

Representative    Aboriginal Affairs Department    0/3 meetings

Janice Goodacre   Local Government Association    2/3 meetings

Brian Goodchild   DOLA (Secretary)      3/3 meetings

During the year, the Committee defi ned the names 

and boundaries for another 277 rural localities in 23 

local government areas. Major achievements were 

in the City of Albany (35 localities) and Shires 

of Esperance (33), Donnybrook-Balingup (22) and 

Denmark (17). 120 of the State’s 144 local govern-

ments now have approved localities. 
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Two new metropolitan localities have been approved 

– Champion Lakes in the City of Armadale, and 

Hammond Park in the City of Cockburn. The 

boundaries of 37 localities were amended, including 

redefi ning the boundary around the Old Swan 

Brewery redevelopment to include it in the Perth 

locality. The dual-named locality of Warmun/Turkey 

Creek in the Shire of Halls Creek has now been 

renamed to Warmun, the name used by the local 

Aboriginal community.

44 parks and reserves were named during the year 

and fi ve names were changed. Two reserves in 

the City of Nedlands were named in honour of Sir 

Charles Court and Sir Paul Hasluck. The dominant 

naming theme for parks and reserves continues to 

be locational names, and there were few commemo-

rative names given during the year. The main choice 

of names for the 707 new road names approved 

during the year were early residents and settlers, 

although in the larger subdivisions different themes 

were adopted. 

In the City of Wanneroo 60 new roads in the growth 

area of Butler (Brighton Estate) adopted the theme 

of English towns and villages surrounding Brighton 

in England.  Twenty-seven new roads in Dalyellup 

(Shire of Capel) have the theme of either Australian 

explorers or Western Australian shipwrecks, while 

11 new roads in Gosnells follow the theme of 

Australian rivers. A road in Carnarvon was renamed 

HMAS Sydney II Memorial Avenue in commemora-

tion of that ship. 66 of the new feature names 

approved are for previously unnamed islands in the 

Montebello Islands, and have adopted a botanical 

theme in keeping with other names in the Islands. 

Geographic Names Committee – Name Approvals

Roads

Features

Road centreline project

DOLA completed the process of assigning a name 

attribute to all roads on the database. Maintenance 

of the data set containing Perth metropolitan roads is 

currently undertaken monthly. 

Data on new roads in rural areas is now being 

maintained on a monthly basis.

Rangeland surveys 

Over the past year, the State Rangeland Survey 

Program continued to provide valuable resource 

management information to pastoralists.  The 

following projects were undertaken during the year:

• Pilbara – printing of the Pilbara Survey technical 

report “An inventory and condition survey of the 

Pilbara region of Western Australia” is scheduled 

for completion in the next fi nancial year along with 

its sister publication, “The pastoral resources and 

their management of the Pilbara region of Western 

Australia.”  Most of the data is in the pre-release 

stage and is already in use by stakeholders.  

A workshop was held at Mt Florence pastoral 

lease to gain feedback from pastoralists and land 

managers and to test pre-published stocking rate 

fi gures.  Findings from the workshop have been 

incorporated into the report to extend the sense of 

ownership to the pastoralists. 

New
2001/02

(2000/01)

707 (641)

614 (389)

Amended
2001/02

(2000/01)

417 (402)

55 (32)

Deleted
2001/02

(2000/01)

nil (nil)

23 (4)
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• Ashburton – two broad surveys have been 

conducted within the Ashburton River catchment 

to assess the extent of colonisation by the exotic 

grass Cenchrus ciliaris (buffel grass).  Buffel grass 

can form monoculture stands in optimal conditions 

and whilst it is widely regarded as valuable for 

stock feed and in the prevention of erosion, there 

are environmental issues where it spreads into 

conservation reserves.  The survey found that 

since the time of the previous survey in 1975, 

buffel grass has spread extensively, but mostly to 

the great benefi t of the pastoral industry.  

• Nullarbor – the main survey of the Nullarbor 

rangelands was commenced in September 2001.  

Effectively the survey is currently on-hold while the 

Pilbara report is completed, however it is expected 

that the project will restart in early 2003.  The 

total area under assessment is 122,000 square 

kilometres, of which about half is alienated under 

pastoral lease and the rest UCL. 

Key Performance Indicators and 
Output Measures 

Outcome – The State’s administrative, commercial 

and social systems are supported by a land infor-

mation base and certainty of ownership and other 

interests in land.

Output – Land Information

Output Description: Information about land and 

land ownership is collected, recorded and made 

available for use by Government, business and the 

community.

Effectiveness Indicator 1 of 2 and output quality 

measure (audited by the Office of Auditor General)

Claims against registered interests, as a result of 

fraud, negligence or errors, settled by the Crown

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The indicator provides a measure of the State’s 

success in maintaining an accurate land titles 

register. It shows the settled claims against the State 

arising from fraud, negligence or mistakes involving 

the certainty of land ownership within the State.

How was the indicator derived?

The indicator is derived from a register that 

records new, current or rejected claims made 

for monetary compensation against the State 

concerning registered interests in land.

The following defi nitions apply:

• Fraud” means the illegal activities by a person or 

persons other than the registered owner or owners 

to effect changes to the existing interests recorded 

on a Certifi cate of Title or other land transaction 

document.

• Negligence or mistakes” means the actions or 

mistakes attributed to DOLA or to conveyancers, 

but not detected by DOLA which affect the land 

register or clients’ ability to successfully complete 

land transactions.

At 30 June 2002, 20 potential claims against the 

State, totalling $972,302 remain under review.
Number of claims
settled by Crown 
 

0  1  0  0 1

Actual
1998-1999

Actual
1999-2000

Actual
2001-2002

Target
2002-2003

Actual
2002-2003

Claims against registered interests
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What does the indicator show?

The low number of successful and potential claims 

indicates that no underlying trend involving fraud, 

negligence or mistakes is apparent.

Effectiveness Indicator 2 of 2  (audited by the Office 

of Auditor General): 

Extent to which the State Land Information Capture 

Program (SLICP) is completed according to target

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The State Land Information Capture Program 

(SLICP) comprises components of a work program 

for producing up-to-date, accurate land information 

data sets to meet customer needs.  It is negotiated 

with the independent Western Australian Land 

Information System (WALIS), a consortium of 

government agencies that use the land information. 

The extent to which the SLICP is delivered is a 

measure of the currency of the data and therefore 

the effectiveness of DOLA’s land information base.

How was the indicator derived?

With a specifi c amount of money available in a year, 

the SLICP is a calculation of the amount of work 

able to be completed. The proposed program is 

then agreed with key WALIS agencies. The various 

components of the required work are recorded in a 

job tracking system, including the time taken and the 

direct cost involved.

The percentage completed of each of the 

components of each program is averaged to attain 

the percentage of overall program completion.

What does this indicator show?

On average 95% of the SLICP has been achieved. 

Of the six discrete components of the 2001-2002 

SLICP, fi ve have not achieved their individual 

targets. Comments on each of the specifi c 

components follow.

Percentage of planned work 
program completed°

Topographic data capture

Spatial upgrade

Orthophoto mapping

Aerial photography program

Property Street Address Project

Locality boundary capture

Target

Actual
1997-1998

100%

100%

98%

95%

N/A

N/A

100%

Actual
1998-1999

98%

69%

98%

102%

91%

50%

100%

Actual
1999-2000

100%

100%

100%

98%

97%

73%

100%

Actual
2000-2001

100%

100%

100%

82%

100%

74%

100%

Actual
2001-2002

96%

95%

100%

89%

98%

92%

100%

° Prior to this year, the SLICP included eight components; however, Upgrade of Geodetic Marks and Spatial Cadastral Database 
Maintenance have now become a DOLA infrastructure maintenance activity and are no longer SLICP related.
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Topographic Data Capture

The Topographic Data Capture program achieved 

96% of an estimated target of 359 map tiles.  

Completion of the program was impeded by the 

inability of the air photography contractor to deliver 

photography for one southwest project. The data not 

captured has been incorporated into the 2002-2003 

program.

Aerial Photography data collection

The Aerial Photography Program achieved 89% of 

an estimated target of 30,000 frames of photog-

raphy.  Completion of the program was impeded 

by two factors: adverse climatic conditions and the 

unscheduled servicing of the contractor’s aircraft, 

both of which were outside DOLA’s control. The 

photography that was not captured has been incor-

porated into the 2002-2003 program.

Spatial Upgrade

The Spatial Upgrade Program updates the spatial 

database for specifi c areas of the State each year 

and the entire State will be upgraded over time. 

During 2001-2002, 95% of the planned work was 

completed.

The status of the overall State spatial upgrade 

program has progressed from 18% completed as 

at 30 June 1995 to 65% completed as at 30 June 

2002.

Orthophoto mapping

The Orthophoto program achieved 38% more than 

the estimated target of 10,000 images rectifi ed, 

due to increased hardware processing and storage 

capability and ongoing refi nement of procedures.

Locality Boundary Capture Program

The target for 2001/2002 was to capture 300 new 

localities. Achievement was 277 localities (92%) in 

23 local governments. The whole-of-state capture 

is now 83% complete, with 119 of the state’s 144 

local governments captured. Most remaining areas 

are expected to be completed in 2002/2003.

Property Street Address

The overall Property Street Address program 

achieved 98% of its target. It comprises four sub-

outputs:

• Maintenance of information for the Metropolitan 

Region

• Country Town Validation

• Rural Address Capture

• Improvement (strata) Address capture

DOLA has completed the spatial addressing of 

approximately 65,000 rural WA properties in the new 

rural address format and will continue in a main-

tenance role. For Country Town addressing, 41% 

of local governments have adopted the proposed 

country town numbering. Strata addressing was 

deferred in 2001/2002 through lack of funds, but will 

recommence with a data-matching exercise when 

funds permit.

Aerial Photography Orthophoto mapping
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Efficiency Indicator 1 of 3 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of Auditor General):

Average cost per land registration action

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land registration actions include a range of activities 

associated with registered land transactions. The 

most common include document searches, exami-

nation and registration. The last two involve incor-

porating changes made to a Certifi cate of Title. 

Typically, changes concern land ownership details 

on a title, applications for a new title for subdivi-

sional land development of 10 lots or more, caveats, 

leases, power of attorney, and other minor adjust-

ments to titles.

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost 

of recording on Government guaranteed land titles 

the range of interests, boundaries and ownership 

relevant to that land. This is a clear indicator of the 

effi ciency with which the land registration system 

and service is maintained.

How was the indicator derived?

The number of transactions is derived from a 

recording and checking system that reports the 

number of:

• Documents examined for registering against the 

title; 

• Certifi cates of title created; and

• Document search requests received. 

The cost of registration actions includes all direct 

costs and an appropriate share of indirect and 

overhead recurrent costs. The cost of land registra-

tion actions is recovered via charges to users for 

each transaction. Each charge is calculated on a 

full cost recovery basis.

What does this indicator show?

Due to the high levels of property market activity 

this year, DOLA dealt with record numbers of 

registration transactions. The indicator shows that 

because the number of registration actions were 

20% higher than the target, and the costs are 

relatively fi xed, the average cost per transaction 

was lower than anticipated.

Number of land registrations actions

Average cost per land registration action

Actual
2000-2001

1,603,611

$23.16

Target
2001-2002

1,515,200

$26.53

Actual
2001-2002

1,815,296

$22.26
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Efficiency Indicator 2 of 3 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of Auditor General)

Average cost per physical land information data set 

maintained and developed

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

These nine data sets include information about:

• Landscape relief (i.e. contours);

• Cultural, or built environment, and natural features;

• Air photography;

• Satellite imagery;

• Geographic names;

• Property street addresses;

• Road centreline (i.e. position of constructed roads);

• Native title claims; and

• Baselines/territorial sea limits.

Keeping the nine data sets up-to-date is an 

essential aspect of maintaining a Government land 

information base and the costs involved represent a 

key indicator of effi ciency.

How was the indicator derived?

The costs for maintaining these data sets includes 

all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 

and overhead recurrent costs.  The total mainte-

nance cost is then averaged across the nine data 

sets. 

What does this indicator show?

The average maintenance cost per data set for 

2001-2002 is 4% higher than the target fi gure, 

which is within the expected annual variance range.

Number of physical land information data 
sets maintained and developed

Average cost per physical land information 
data set maintained and developed

Actual
2000-2001

9

$1,462,231

Target
2001-2002

9

$1,573,515

Actual
2001-2002

9

$1,643,770
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Efficiency Indicator 3 of 3 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of Auditor General)

Average cost per land boundary information data set 

maintained and developed

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

These three data sets include information about:

• Cadastre;

• Geodetic marks; and

• Administrative boundaries.

Keeping the data sets up-to-date is an essential 

aspect of maintaining a Government land informa-

tion base, and the costs involved represent a key 

indicator of effi ciency.

How was the indicator derived?

The cost for maintaining each data set includes all 

direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and 

overhead recurrent costs.  The total maintenance 

cost is then averaged across the three data sets.

What does this indicator show?

For 2001-2002, the average maintenance cost per 

data set is 15% higher than the target fi gure. 

This is due to the implementation of SmartPlan, 

which required resources for establishing new main-

tenance processes, training and backcapture work 

on the cadastral and administrative boundary data 

sets.  Given the relatively fi xed costs, this has 

resulted in the higher average cost per data set.

Quality Measures

Claims against registered interests, as a result of 

fraud, negligence or errors, settled by the Crown     

(Refer to Effectiveness indicator above).

Due to internal restructures, the maintenance 

functions of the Spatial Cadastral Database were 

Number of land boundary information data 
sets maintained and developed

Average cost per land boundary informa-
tion data set maintained and developed

Actual
2000-2001

3

$801,671

Target
2001-2002

3

$861,381

Actual
2001-2002

3

$990,296

Maintenance of ISO 9002:1994 Quality 
Assurance for processes of physical land 
information data sets maintained and 
developed

Maintenance of ISO 9002:1994 Quality 
Assurance for processes of land boundary 
information data sets maintained and 
developed

Actual
2000-2001

Maintained

Maintained

Target
2001-2002

Maintained 

Maintained 

Actual
2001-2002

Maintained 

Not maintained

transferred to the Registration Services Branch.  In 

so doing, ISO 9002:1994 Quality Assurance certi-

fi cation for this element lapsed.  ISO 9001:2000 

Quality Assurance certifi cation will be introduced 

for this measure in 2002-2003.
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Timeliness Measures

The timeliness with which land registers may 

be accessed, maintained, searched and updated 

mostly pertains to the availability of information 

systems.  DOLA relies on several computer systems 

to carry out the various land registration actions in 

an effi cient manner. These systems include:

• Document Acceptance System;

• Document Issuing System;

• Image Viewing System;

• Lodgement Processor;

• Customer Accounting / Customer Remote Search 

System;

• Titles in Progress System; and

• Registrar’s Packets.

Systems are expected to be available during core 

business hours. A target of 98% for the time 

that systems are available for use was set for 

2001-2002. The actual proportion of time that 

systems were available for use was nearly 99%.

Satisfying requests for physical land information 

data in a timely fashion is important in supporting 

the State’s administrative, commercial and social 

systems. It is reported in terms of meeting agreed 

delivery times. For 2001-2002 the target was set at 

95% of customer requests for physical land informa-

tion to be met within agreed times. This target was 

The time systems providing registration 
services are available for users 

Actual
2000-2001

NA

Target
2001-2002

98%

Actual
2001-2002

98.6%

achieved, with 99% of 4,178 customer requests 

being met on time.

Land boundary information data is collected and 

added to the data sets within an annual program, 

which has program milestone timelines. For 

2001-2002, a target of 95% of information added 

within set times has been applied to the following 

critical data: land points; spatial anomalies; audited 

fi eld books; approved layer polygons; and lodged 

layer polygons.

The actual result for the year was 98% of program 

milestones met on time, which exceeded the 

planned target for the year. 

Requests for physical land information data 
met within target times 

Actual
2000-2001

95%

Target
2001-2002

95%

Actual
2001-2002

99%

Land boundary information added to data 
sets within target times 

Actual
2000-2001

95%

Target
2001-2002

95%

Actual
2001-2002

98%
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Providing Accurate and Impartial 
Valuations

Desired Outcome

An effective, independent and impartial valuation 

and property information service.

Western Australian ratepayers rely on accurate 

valuations for the provision of a fair, impartial and 

equitable rating base.  The Valuer General’s Offi ce, 

now a part of the Department of Land Administra-

tion, was established to carry out and record values 

on property for all rating and taxing purposes. 

Valuation Services provide an independent property 

valuation and consultancy service to the State 

Government, local governments and statutory 

authorities.  Such valuations are made for a variety 

of reasons including sale, purchase, lease or com-

pensation, stamp duty assessment, fi nancial asset 

management and reporting.

Corporate Valuation System 

Internet access to the corporate valuation system 

“ValSys” has been available to our major rating 

and taxing clients since it was commissioned in 

February 1999. To meet client’s demands for added 

functionality and better designed forms, a project 

commenced during the year to re-write all web 

forms. The release of the new metropolitan gross 

rental valuation roll in April 2002 was also a key 

driver. Clients use the web forms for problem-solv-

ing by extracting relevant client-based valuation 

history as well as property attribute history, thereby 

easing the loads on the valuation process. The 

new forms will be the catalyst for additional client 

self-help and will reduce time spent on off-line 

enquiries. 

During the year, design and construction of the 

valuation and sales channel of the  property portal 

commenced. The portal, due to go into production 

in the second half of 2002, will initially enable web 

browser access to textual and spatially displayed 

sales evidence and ultimately public access to the 

valuation rolls. 

Ensuring the integrity of Gross rental values and 

information on property sales

The base property data is fundamental in the formu-

lation and assessment of Gross Rental Values.

In 2001-2002 Valuation Services has both continued 

with its existing methodologies and implemented 

new initiatives aimed at improving the quality of 

its property records. In addition to established 

processes that included inspections of existing and 

new buildings, information published in real estate 

papers, on the Internet, and provided by owners 

in response to questionnaires were also used. 

Additional assistance at local government level 

through the provision of improved reporting of minor 

building works was also enlisted.  The electronic 

form of data held is also integrated with land sales 

information for provision to clients.  It is important to 

maintain the quality and correctness of this service.

Despite these innovative approaches, data verifi ca-

tion has been restricted in 2001-2002 as available 

resources were necessarily directed to completing 

the general valuation program.  However the cyclical 

nature of the valuation programs allows for data veri-

fi cation to be a major focus in 2002-2003.
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Service Level Agreements

In May 2002,  an in-principle agreement was 

reached with the Water Corporation to extend the 

existing Service Level Agreement to end 2002-2003. 

Whilst this agreement only formally applies within 

the metropolitan area, it was also agreed to trial it in 

the country operational areas during the year. 

During the year, the service delivery agreement 

between the Commonwealth of Australia and the 

State of Western Australia for the provision of 

comprehensive valuation services within the Indian 

Ocean Territories was reviewed and renewed until 

30 June 2004. The scope of the agreement 

was expanded to specifi cally include plant and 

machinery valuations for Government agencies, cor-

porations and statutory clients.  

A decision was made during 2002-2003 to negotiate 

a draft agreement with the Offi ce of State Revenue 

for the provision of unimproved values for land tax, 

as well as market valuations to assist in the adjudi-

cation of stamp duty. 

Establishing a business valuation unit

While the primary focus of Valuation Services is 

on the valuation of interests in land, this year 

saw the expansion of involvement in business 

valuations. The purpose of the Business Valuation 

Unit is to provide advice to government agencies 

on the market value of trading concerns for the 

purpose of purchase/disposal/compensation or the 

assessment of a tax. To date the primary user of 

this service is the Offi ce of State Revenue, who use 

market value as the basis for the assessment of 

stamp duty associated with the transfer of business 

interests. In addition to ongoing involvement in the 

valuation of mining interests, this unit has provided 

advice in notable instances involving the transfer of 

non-real assets.

In the course of the year, more resources have 

been dedicated to this Unit and its operations are 

expected to grow during 2002-2003.

Increasing Client Awareness

Whilst Valuation Services continues to provide 

advice for purchase/disposal and compensation to 

government agencies and in doing so, demonstrate 

its ongoing capability and expertise in this area, it is 

essential that it continues to make clients aware of 

its other professional services. 

Improved awareness this year was achieved by 

being both a sponsor and exhibitor at the Western 

Australian Local Government Association and the 

Local Government Municipal Offi cers’ annual con-

ferences. During the conference, staff valuers were 

available to offer information and answer questions 

about the asset valuation service for insurance and 

asset reporting purposes. This work will be further 

reinforced in 2002-2003 by a combination of client 

site visits, mail-outs and further attendance at confer-

ences and forums.  

Additional Valuers to meet demand for plant and 

equipment valuation services. 

Responding to an emerging need during 2001-2002 

for an increased capability in the delivery of plant 

and equipment valuation services, the number of 

qualifi ed valuers will be progressively increased from 

one to four over the medium term. Initially this has 

meant sponsoring selected valuers for correspon-

dence courses.

During the year a second valuer advanced in status 

to Associate (Plant & Machinery) after meeting 

the Australian Property Institute’s formal entrance 

requirements and another valuer commenced his 

fi nal year of correspondence course.  

Plant, machinery and infrastructure valuation assign-

ments were carried out during the year for the 

Rottnest Island Board, Western Power, Department 

of Conservation and Land Management, The Kings 

Park Board and the Commonwealth Department of 

Transport and Regional Services. 
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Key Performance Indicators and 
Output Measures

Outcome – An effective, independent and impartial 

valuation and property information service.

Output – Rating and Taxing Valuations 

Output description:

• The completion of accurate valuation rolls of all 

rateable land in the State, and the timely provision 

of the rolls to rating and taxing authorities. 

• The maintenance of the valuation rolls through 

the periodic re-assessment of Gross Rental Values 

and Unimproved Values of rateable land. 

• The amendment of the valuation roll to take 

account of changes to property and resolving 

objections, appeals and queries lodged against the 

values in the roll.

Output – Other Valuations

Output description: The provision of an independent 

and impartial property valuation and consultancy 

service to Government, local government and 

statutory clients for a variety of reasons including 

sale, purchase, lease or compensation, stamp 

duty assessment, fi nancial asset management and 

reporting.

Benchmark against international standards 
for accuracy using Means Ratio Test:
    Gross Rental Value
    Unimproved Value

Coeffi cient of dispersion to check 
uniformity of values:
    Gross Rental Value
    Unimproved Value

Actual
1999-2000

93.25%
91.77%

3.10%
4.47%

Actual
2000-2001

94.14%
91.87%

5.48%
4.64%

Target
2001-2002

92.5%
92.5%

<15%
<15%

Actual
2001-2002

92.38%
92.69%

5.01%
4.31%

Output – Advisory Services

Output description: The provision of property 

related data and sales information to Government 

agencies and corporation, statutory clients, the real 

estate industry and wider community.
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Effectiveness Indicator and output quality measure 

(audited by the Office of the Auditor General)

International standards for accuracy and uniformity 

of rating and taxing values are met 

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

State and local governments rely on impartial and 

accurate property values as the basis for the 

levying of rates and taxes. Therefore, measuring the 

uniformity and accuracy of valuations provides a 

useful indicator of their effectiveness in meeting this 

outcome.

How was this indicator derived?

How was this indicator derived?

The uniformity and accuracy of values is checked 

against research and international ratio standards. 

The benchmark used has been established by 

the International Association of Assessing Offi cers 

“Standard on Ratio Studies”. This standard states 

that the “overall level of appraisal for a jurisdiction.... 

for vacant land ...should be between 90 percent and 

110 percent”, and that the “Coeffi cient Of Dispersion 

for vacant land should be 20 percent or less. In 

larger Urban Jurisdictions (in WA the whole State) it 

should be 15 percent or less.”

Plant and equipment values

Stamp duty values

Asset values

Market values

Consultancy jobs

Total number of other values

Average cost per other values

Actual
2000-2001

2,160

6,538

122,488

8,719

2,167

142,072

$33.30

Target
2001-2002

20,000

6,405

127,400

8,975

-

162,780

$26.57

Actual
2001-2002

8,359

7,269

130,346

10,737

2,372

159,139

$30.41

The Means Ratio Test measures the overall level of 

values adopted for rating and taxing purposes as 

compared with market evidence used to determine 

these values. The ratio test by itself is insuffi cient 

to determine accuracy when comparing one area 

to another. For this reason the Coeffi cient of 

Dispersion is applied to check uniformity of values.

What does this indicator show?

The measures of uniformity and accuracy of 

valuations for rating and taxing values either meet 

or exceed the established international standards.  

This is an excellent result, and in line with previous 

years.
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Efficiency Indicator 1 of 4 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of the Auditor General)

Average cost per Rating and Taxing values

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Rating and taxing values represent a major output 

of the Department, and as such, reporting on 

the average cost per value is a key indicator of 

effi ciency.

How was this indicator derived?

Cost per value refers to the total cost per value 

of unimproved and gross rental values including 

general valuations, interim valuations, objections, 

appeals and queries made during the fi nancial year.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an 

appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent 

costs.

What does this indicator show?

The overall cost of rating and taxing values was 

$8.74 per value, which is marginally above the 

target of $8.58 per value.  This is due to the cost 

per value being sensitive to actual numbers and the 

number of values being slightly below target.

Gross Rental Valuations 

Unimproved Valuations

Total rating and taxing values

Average cost per rating/taxing value

Actual
2000-2001

442,129

800,710

1,242,839

$8.03

Target
2001-2002

427,712

789,474

1,217,186

$8.58

Actual
2001-2002

412,535

799,818

1,212,353

$8.74
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Efficiency Indicator 2 of 4 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of the Auditor General)

Average cost per other values

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Valuations in this category protect the public 

interest in land, facilitate the effective management 

and reporting of the State’s assets and enable 

informed decision-making by Government. They 

include valuation of land for any Government 

department, agency instrumentality, person, body or 

authority that has the power to acquire or dispose 

of land.

This measure provides a broad indication of 

the relative effi ciency in delivering cost-effective 

valuations to clients.

How was this indicator derived?

The measure refers to the total cost per value 

including all plant and equipment, stamp duty, 

market, and asset valuations, and property related 

valuation consultancy services. The total cost 

includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of 

indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show?

The average cost for valuations in this category is 

$30.41, which is more than the target average cost.  

This is due to the higher proportion of complex 

values completed.

Plant and equipment values

Stamp duty values

Asset values

Market values

Consultancy jobs

Total number of other values

Average cost per other values

Actual
2000-2001

2,160

6,538

122,488

8,719

2,167

139,905

$33.30

Actual
2001-2002

8,359

7,269

130,346

10,737

2,372

159,139

$30.41

Actual
2001-2002

8,359

7,269

130,346

10,737

2,372

159,139

$30.41
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Efficiency Indicator 3 of 4 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of the Auditor General)

Average cost per consultancy hour

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Consultancy services refer to the provision on 

request, of advice on property matters to 

Government, the property profession and the 

wider community. The effi ciency of the consultancy 

services provided can be expressed in terms of the 

average cost per hour.

How was this indicator derived?

Consultancy hours as a measure are based on the 

conversion of the total number of full-time equiva-

lents allocated to providing consultancy services.  

One full-time equivalent converts to 1,950 hours 

(Average for 2001-2002, taking into consideration 

the impact of changes to employment conditions). 

The total cost includes all direct costs and an 

appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent 

costs.

What does this indicator show?

The overall cost for consultancy is $50.39 per hour, 

and while this result is well above the target, the 

fi gure is reasonable as more overhead cost has 

been allocated to this activity.  It is also in keeping 

with the cost of undertaking market valuations on an 

hourly basis.

Number of consultancy hours

Average cost per consultancy hour

Actual
2000-2001

15,037

$38.27

Target
2001-2002

7,160

$37.18

Actual
2001-2002

14,959

$50.39
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Efficiency Indicator 4 of 4 incorporating output 

quantity and cost measures (audited by the Office 

of the Auditor General)

Average cost per property information request 

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

An extensive database of property related infor-

mation, developed and maintained since 1979, 

underpins the ability to provide an impartial and 

reliable valuation service.  This indicator refers to 

requests for information from this database and 

other valuation information, and the cost of providing 

it to clients and in-house staff. 

How was this indicator derived?

The measure refers to the total cost per request as 

opposed to total revenue and expenditure. The total 

cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate 

share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

Requests include the total number of sales maps, 

products and digital data requests but exclude 

in-house requests.  

What does this indicator show?

This year’s result of $43.61 average cost per request 

is more than double the target fi gure and is due 

to a number of factors.  The number of requests 

is below expectations while the complexity of each 

request has risen.  In addition, the relevant work 

area bore the brunt of the public response to 

Number of property information requests

Average cost per property information 

request

Actual
2000-2001

27,343

$29.37

Target
2001-2002

37,000

$21.08

Actual
2001-2002

31,500

$43.61

the Premium Property Tax. The provision of this 

public information was not chargeable. Moreover, 

the actual revenue raised through sale of informa-

tion was well above target, despite the lower than 

expected number of requests.

Quality Measure

Achieve a level of client satisfaction for valuations 

and property information advisory services

A survey of major valuation clients was carried 

out, and while the sample was small (50) it repre-

sented the market valuation clients for whom the 

largest number of values were undertaken during 

the year.  The level of client satisfaction targeted 

was greater than 90% for valuations other than 

rating and taxing.  The actual result was 94.8% 

satisfi ed with the service provided.

A similar survey was conducted of clients seeking 

over the counter property related advisory services.  

While the response to this survey was low, the 

result was positive, with 85.2% of respondents 

stating they were satisfi ed with the advisory service 

provided.
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Timeliness Measures

Both stamp duty and the Government Property 

Register turnaround times exceeded target. Whilst 

the timeliness measure for consultancies at 12.8% 

was well below the target of 70% within 20 days, 

client agreement was obtained for later completion 

where required. An increasing number of complex 

consultancies, requiring additional time contributed 

to the apparent delays.  With the above exceptions, 

all other turnaround target times were either met or 

only marginally below the planned targets.

Completed Gross Rental Valuations 
by 31 March 

Completed Unimproved Valuations 
by 31 May

Turnaround target times or times agreed with 
clients met for:

 Plant and equipment as agreed with client

 Stamp duty values in 10 days

 Government Property Register by 30 June

 Market values in 20 working days

Actual
2000-2001

93.3%

98.3%

NA

91.0%

NA

46.9%

Target
2001-2002

>95%

>98%

100%

80%

95%

70%

Actual
2001-2002

93.7%

92.3%

100%

93.1%

99.2%

66.2%
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Access to Government Land 
Information

Desired Outcome 

Government land information supports the 

management and development of the State.

The use of land information affects almost every 

aspect of the State’s economy and lifestyle. Using 

the Western Australian Land Information System 

(WALIS), WA Government agencies share and 

make available to the private sector and community 

a large amount of land-related information. 

Twenty-six Government agencies, as well as local 

governments and businesses, participate in WALIS, 

whose aim is to build networks of people and 

technology to share information and improve its 

usefulness and accessibility.

Sharing information reduces costs, avoids duplica-

tion and helps build a consistent view of land and 

geographic information. This helps Government and 

business deliver better products and services and 

individuals make better decisions about their future.  

WALIS Master License Agreement 

A new whole-of-Government licensing agreement 

for the transfer of land information between the 

public sector, the spatial information industry and 

the community was fi nalised.  This standard 

document streamlines information access and 

reduces ineffi ciencies arising from negotiating 

access from individual government agencies, 

addressing the effi ciency expectations of all users 

of Government-held spatial information.

WALIS web site 

The design of the new WALIS web site saw 

full consultation with key stakeholders.  Design 

essentials included logical site structure and instant 

access to frequently sought information (no more 

than two mouse clicks).  Activity in community par-

ticipation areas such as job opportunity/job seeker 

lists, feedback forms and downloads of committee 

meeting minutes indicate strong acceptance by 

users.

WA Atlas as a premier reference tool

The WA Atlas is an online interactive Atlas of the 

WA coast and inland areas. This year saw the 

enhancement of this Atlas.  The process involved 

a user input session which provided information on 

expected functions and features. 

The WALIS Offi ce brought together a Steering 

Committee to provide guidance on the redevelop-

ment of the Atlas to incorporate the National Land 

and Water Resources Audit’s Australian Natural 

Resource Atlas as a tool.  This tool satisfi ed many 

of the expectations that emerged from the user input 

session.

The Steering Committee consisted of members from 

state agencies, higher educational institutions and a 

regional representative.  

The Minister launched the enhanced WA Atlas at 

the WALIS Forum.  Since the launch, an average of 

around 40 different users visit the Atlas daily.  

Data on the Atlas have also increased, of note is the 

series of data identifying potential areas for mineral 

depletion around the Albany region provided by Agri-

culture WA.

WALIS web site
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WALIS Forum 2002

WALIS Forum 2002 attracted a record attendance 

of 520.  The Forum is Western Australia’s premier 

event for the geographic information industry.  

Forum 2002 ‘Information Without Borders’ looked 

at ways that government, industry and community 

can work together to realise the enormous potential 

that real-time transfer of geographic information can 

bring.  

The Forum highlighted innovations in mobile 

technology and the role of geographic information 

in emergency and incident response and infra-

structure management.  For the fi rst time the 

forum featured a hypothetical with a discussion 

panel of government and industry representatives 

examining future scenarios for the geographic infor-

mation industry.  Another fi rst for the 2002 Forum 

saw the 2nd day designated as GIS Day WA.  

GIS Day WA featured the launch of the GIS-in-

Schools competition and provided tours of the 

Trade Exhibition to school groups.

Special Tasks for WALIS Access Group

This year saw the WALIS Access Group, a sub 

committee of WALIS Council, faced with the special 

task of examining and reporting on the status of 

cross-agency collaboration in relation to Natural 

Resource Management.  

WALIS Access Group members of the four relevant 

agencies came together to form the Senior Offi cers 

Group (SOG) Natural Resource Management (NRM) 

Data Access Sub Committee.  The Data Access Sub 

Committee was made up of participants from Agricul-

ture WA, Water & Rivers Commission, Conservation 

and Land Management, the Department of Environ-

mental Protection and the WALIS offi ce.  A presenta-

tion and report were given to the Senior Offi cer’s 

Group in January 2002.  

Images from the 2002 WALIS Forum
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Key Performance Indicators and 
Output Measures 

Outcome – Government land information supports 

the management and development of the State.

Output: Access to Government land or Geographic 

information

Output Description

Land information from 26* WALIS stakeholder 

agencies is managed in a coordinated way so 

that data held by agencies can be integrated and 

readily accessed to meet Government, business 

and community needs.

Effectiveness Indicator and output quality measure 

(audited by the Office of the Auditor General)

Extent to which the Business Plan is achieved.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

WALIS is an alliance of State government agencies, 

local governments and an increasing number of 

private organisations. All participants are dedicated 

to improving the State’s land and geographic infor-

mation.  The wide variety of issues, organisations 

and people involved creates a need to determine a 

clear focus to which all stakeholders can commit. 

This focus is set out in the WALIS Strategic 

Percent of Business Plan achieved

Actual
2000-2001

NA

Target
2001-2002

100%

Actual
2001-2002

79%

Directions document, a two to three year statement 

of priorities.

An Annual Business Plan is established in con-

sultation with WALIS stakeholders, to achieve the 

priorities or strategic objectives set out in the 

Strategic Directions document.  The WALIS Offi ce 

is responsible for managing and coordinating the 

achievement of the Annual Business Plan.

Therefore the extent to which the Business Plan is 

achieved is a useful measure of the WALIS Offi ce’s 

effectiveness.

How was the indicator derived?

The degree to which the strategies and projects 

contained in the Annual Business Plan are 

achieved determines the extent to which the 

Business Plan has been successful.  

What does the indicator show?

Approximately 79% of the Business Plan was 

achieved for 2001-2002.  During the year the 

WALIS Offi ce operated under signifi cant staffi ng 

pressures.  This was due to a number of 

infl uences, including Machinery of Government 

changes and the absence of permanent senior staff.  

In most senior positions there were three separate 

incumbents. Nevertheless, the Offi ce delivered on 

a number of key aspects of the Plan: fi nalising a 

whole of government spatial information licensing 

agreement, re-design of the WALIS web site, and 

hosting of the WALIS Forum to a record number of 

participants. 
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Efficiency Indicator, incorporating output quantity 

and cost measures (audited by the Office of the 

Auditor General)

Extent to which the Business Plan is achieved.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The WALIS Offi ce is responsible for managing 

and coordinating the achievement of the Annual 

Business Plan, which aims to meet the priorities 

and objectives set out in the WALIS Strategic 

Directions document. In 2001-2002 the Business 

Plan comprised of 14 key projects. Therefore the 

average cost per Business Plan project is a useful 

measure of effi ciency. 

How was the indicator derived?

The 14 Business Plan projects are contained in the 

Annual Business Plan.  The total cost of projects 

refl ects the entire cost of the WALIS Offi ce, and 

includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of 

indirect and overhead recurrent costs. 

What does the indicator show?

For 2001-2002, the average cost per Business 

Plan project was $112,033, which is only 1% more 

than the target for the year.  Given the staffi ng 

pressures experienced during the year, this is an 

acceptable result for the WALIS Offi ce and dem-

onstrates effi cient use of resources under diffi cult 

conditions.

Number of Business Plan projects

Average cost per project

Actual
2000-2001

NA

NA

Target
2001-2002

14

$110,428

Actual
2001-2002

14

$112,033

Extent to which performance criteria for 
Business Plan projects are achieved 

Actual
2000-2001

NA

Target
2001-2002

75%

Actual
2001-2002

64%

Percentage of Business Plan completed 
within agreed timeframes

Actual
2000-2001

NA

Target
2001-2002

90%

Actual
2001-2002

57%

Quality Measure

Performance criteria were not met as planned.  

Planned project achievements were reformulated 

or suspended altogether.  This approach was 

needed to maintain consistent performance in 

mission critical projects.

Timeliness Measure

Administrative and staff variability impeded the 

steady and planned delivery of project deliverables.  

Therefore, there was a signifi cant fall in the 

timeliness target this year.
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To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF LAND ADMINISTRATION 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Performance 

Indicators 

This audit opinion relates to the performance indicators of the Department 

of Land Administration for the year ended June 30, 2002 included on the 

Department of Land Administration’s web site. The Chief Executive is responsible 

for the integrity of the Department of Land Administration’s web site. I have not 

been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The audit opinion refers 

only to the performance indicators named below. It does not provide an opinion 

on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from these 

performance indicators. If users of this opinion are concerned with the inherent 

risks arising from electronic data communications, they are advised to refer to 

the hard copy of the audited performance indicators to confi rm the information 

included in the audited performance indicators presented on this web site. 

Scope 

I have audited the key effectiveness and effi ciency performance indicators of the 

Department of Land Administration for the year ended June 30, 2002 under the 

provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for developing and maintaining proper 

records and systems for preparing and presenting performance indicators. I have 

conducted an audit of the key performance indicators in order to express an 

opinion on them to the Parliament as required by the Act. No opinion is expressed 

on the output measures of quantity, quality, timeliness and cost. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section 79 of the Act to form 

an opinion based on a reasonable level of assurance. The audit procedures 

included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and other 

disclosures in the performance indicators, and assessing the relevance and 

appropriateness of the performance indicators in assisting users to assess the 

Department’s performance. These procedures have been undertaken to form an 

opinion as to whether, in all material respects, the performance indicators are 

relevant and appropriate having regard to their purpose and fairly represent the 

indicated performance. 

The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 
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Qualifi cation 

The reported effectiveness indicator “Extent to which the Business Plan is 

achieved” is not relevant to the outcome “Government land information supports 

the management and development of the State” because it does not measure 

the extent to which this outcome has been achieved. Furthermore, appropriate 

systems were not put in place to monitor the progress of Business Plan projects 

and therefore the indicator is not verifi able. 

Qualifi ed Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, except for the indicator referred to in the qualifi cation, the key 

effectiveness and effi ciency performance indicators of the Department of Land 

Administration are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 

Department’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the 

year ended June 30, 2002. 

D D R PEARSON 

AUDITOR GENERAL 

October 11, 2002 

Department of Land Administration

Performance indicators for the year ended June 30, 2002
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Certification of the Key Performance Indicators

I certify, as required by Treasurer’s Instruction 

905, that the key performance indicators are 

based on proper records, are relevant and 

appropriate for assisting users to assess the 

Department of Land Administration’s perfor-

mance, and fairly represent the performance of 

the Department of Land Administration for the 

year ended 30 June 2002.

Grahame Searle

A/CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Accountable Offi cer)

15 August 2002

Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying fi nancial statements of the 

Department of Land Administration have been 

prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, from 

proper accounts and records to present fairly the 

fi nancial transactions for the fi nancial year ending 

30 June 2002, and the fi nancial position as at 30 

June 2002.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any 

circumstances which would render any particulars 

included in the fi nancial statements misleading or 

inaccurate.

Grahame Searle

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Accountable Offi cer)

15 August 2002

Murray Smith

MANAGER FINANCIAL SERVICES

(Principal Accounting Offi cer)

15 August 2002
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Cost of Services

              $

Operating Expenses   92,094,000 

Revenue    60,653,000

Cost of sales         452,000

Operating revenue   60,201,000

Net cost of services   31,893,000

Activities: The principal activities of the agency in 

the course of the fi nancial year were as set out in 

Note 3 of the Financial Statements and under the 

Report on Operations in the Annual Report.

Directors’ Report 

Directors

The following persons held offi ce as Directors of the 

Department of Land Administration as at June 30, 

2002:

GE Searle  (A/Chief Executive) 

G Fenner   (A/Director)

HL Brown  (A/Director)

AJ Burke   (A/Director) 

M Woodcock  (A/Director)

J Rhoads   (A/Director)

I Hyde   (A/Director)
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Financial Statement
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Cost of services

Expenses from ordinary activities

 Employee expenses 4   52,421 

 Doubtful debts  112 

 Depreciation and amortisation expenses 5   4,376 

 Administration expenses 6   23,327 

 Accommodation expenses 7   8,987 

 Capital user charge 8   2,864 

 Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 9   7 

Total cost of services   92,094 

Revenues from ordinary activities

 User charges and fees 10   54,475 

 Net proceeds from the sale of maps and plans 11   1,606 

 Proceeds from DOLA International Projects 12   492 

 Other revenue 13   3,628 

Total revenues from ordinary activities   60,201 

Net cost of services   31,893 

Revenues from Government

 Output Appropriation 14   33,685 

 Refund to Consolidated Fund 15   (2,553)

 Resources received free of charge 16   333 

 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 17   1,704 

 Net assets assumed 18   17,926 

Total revenues from Government    51,095 

Change in net assets before restructuring   19,202 

 Net revenues/(expenses) from restructuring 19   7,937 

Change in net assets after restructuring 30   27,139 

 Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation reserve 30   2,125 

Total changes in equity other than those resulting

from transactions with WA State Government as owners   29,264 

Note
 2001-02 
 ($’000) 

 

° The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2002
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Current assets

 Cash assets 20  13,299 

 Restricted cash assets 21  1,722 

 Inventories - maps  225 

 Receivables 22  9,538 

 Amounts receivable for outputs 23 755 

 Prepayments 24 569 

 Accrued revenue  686 

Total current assets  26,794 

Non-current assets

 Amounts receivable for outputs 23  4,106 

 Equipment, software and furniture  25 (a) 19,711 

 Land  26  37,742 

Total non-current assets  61,559 

Total assets  88,353 

Current liabilities

 Payables 27  898 

 Provisions 28  7,594 

 Other liabilities 29  4,150 

Total current liabilities  12,642 

Non-current liabilities

 Provisions 28  3,788 

Total non-current liabilities  3,788 

Total liabilities  16,430 

Equity 30 

 Accumulated surplus  43,126 

 Contributed equity  11,914 

 Asset revaluation reserve  16,883 

Total equity  71,923 

Total liabilities and equity  88,353 

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2002

Note
2001-02
($’000)

° The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash fl ows from Government

 Output appropriations  28,825 

 Refund to Consolidated Fund  (2,553)

 Capital contributions   11,914 

Net cash provided by Government  38,186 

Utilised as follows:

Cash fl ows from operating activities

 Payments

  Employee costs  (44,982)

  Superannuation  (4,290)

  Administration  (18,159)

  Accommodation  (8,140)

  Capital user charge  (2,864)

  GST payments on purchases  (3,634)

  GST payments to taxation authority  (345)

  Capital land development  (432)

 Receipts

  User charges and fees  46,476 

  GST receipts on sales  3,309 

  GST receipts from taxation authority  1,625

  Other receipts  6,391 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 31(b) (25,045)

Cash fl ows from investing activities

 Payments for purchase of non-current 

 physical assets  (7,169)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (7,169)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  5,972

Cash assets at the beginning of the fi nancial year  8,100

Cash assets from restructuring  949

Cash assets at the end of the fi nancial year 31(a) 15,021

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2002 

Note

2001-02  
($’000)
Infl ows

(Outfl ows)

 

° The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues for the year ended 30 June 2002

Management 
and Use of 

Government 
Land

 8,322 

 0

 430

 4,059

 1,486

 1,382

 3

 15,682

 57

 0

 0

 2,726

 2,783

 12,899

 14,819

 (2,553)

 144

 286

 17,926

 30,622

 17,723

 0 

 17,723 

 2,125 

 19,848 

Land
Information

 32,534 

 112 

 3,035 

 15,068 

 6,455 

 961

 4

 58,169

 46,020

 1,606

 492

 707

 48,825

 9,344

 10,464

 0

 155

 1,049

 0

 11,668

 2,324

 0

 2,324

 0

 2,324

Access to 
Government 

Land or 
Geographic 
 Information

 812 

 0 

 31

 556

 166

 7

 0

 1,572 

 0

 0 

 0

 126

 126

 1,446

 1,661

 0

 1

 27

 0 

 1,689

 243

 0

 243

 0 

 243

Output  

  

  

Cost of Services 

Expenses from ordinary activities 

 Employee expenses

 Doubtful debts 

 Depreciation and amortisation expense  

 Administration expenses

 Accommodation expenses

 Capital user charge

 Net loss on disposal of non-current assets

Total cost of services 
 

Revenues from ordinary activities 

 User charges and fees

 Net proceeds from the sale of maps and plans

 Proceeds from DOLA International Projects

 Other revenues from ordinary activities

Total revenues from ordinary activities 
 

Net cost of services  
 

Revenues from Government 

 Output appropriations

 Refund to Consolidated Fund

 Resources received free of charge

 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer

 Net assets assumed

Total revenues from Government  
 

Change in net assets before restructuring 
 

Net revenues/(expenses) from restructuring
 

Change in net assets after restructuring 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation 

reserve
 

Total changes in equity other than those 

resulting from transactions with WA State 

Government as owners

continued…

2001-02
($’000) ($’000) ($’000)
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Output  

  
  

Cost of Services 

Expenses from ordinary activities 

 Employee expenses

 Doubtful debts 

 Depreciation and amortisation expense  

 Administration expenses

 Accommodation expenses

 Capital user charge

 Net loss on disposal of non-current assets

Total cost of services 
 

Revenues from ordinary activities 

 User charges and fees

 Net proceeds from the sale of maps and plans

 Proceeds from DOLA International Projects

 Other revenues from ordinary activities

Total revenues from ordinary activities 
 

Net cost of services  
 

Revenues from Government 

 Output appropriations

 Refund to Consolidated Fund

 Resources received free of charge

 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer

 Net assets assumed

Total revenues from Government  
 

Change in net assets before restructuring 
 

Net revenues/(expenses) from restructuring
 

Change in net assets after restructuring 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation 

reserve
 

Total changes in equity other than those 

resulting from transactions with WA State 

Government as owners

Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues for the year ended 30 June 2002

Rating and 
Taxing 

Valuations

6,916 

0 

566 

2,344 

566 

331 

0 

10,723 

4,842 

0 

0 

12 

4,854 

5,869 

4,674 

0 

21 

220 

0 

4,915 

(954)

5,159 

4,205 

0 

4,205 

Other 
Valuations

3,271 

0 

268 

1,108 

268 

156 

0 

5,071 

2,518 

0 

0 

57 

2,575 

2,496 

2,067 

0 

10 

104 

0 

2,181 

(315)

2,381 

2,066 

0 

2,066 

Advisory 
Services

566 

0 

46 

192 

46 

27 

0 

877 

1,038 

0 

0 

0 

1,038 

(161)

0 

0 

2 

18 

0 

20 

181 

397 

578 

0 

578  

Total

52,421 

112 

4,376 

23,327 

8,987 

2,864 

7 

92,094 

54,475 

1,606 

492 

3,628 

60,201 

31,893 

33,685 

(2,553)

333 

1,704 

17,926 

51,095 

19,202 

7,937 

27,139 

2,125 

29,264 

2001-02
($’000) ($’000) ($’000)($’000)
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Purchase of outputs

Item 81  Net amount appropriated to purchase outputs 33,418  33,409  (9)

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes

 Transfer of Land Act 1893 0  18  18 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 249  258  9 

Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 33,667  33,685  18 

Details of Expenditure by Outputs

 Management and Use of Government Land 14,622  15,682  1,060 

 Land Information 56,941  58,169  1,228 

 Access to Government land or geographic information 1,546  1,572  26 

 Rating and Taxing Valuations 10,447  10,723  276 

 Other Valuations 4,592  5,071  479 

 Advisory Services 780  877  97 

Total Cost of Outputs 88,928  92,094  3,166 

Less retained revenue (50,892) (60,201) (9,309)

Net Cost of Outputs 38,036  31,893  (6,143)

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and 

  other accrual items (4,369) 1,792  6,161 

Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 33,667  33,685  18 

Capital

Item 165       Capital Contribution 5,391  11,914  6,523 

Capital Expenditure 

 Capital appropriations  5,391  11,914  6,523 

 Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other

 funding sources 7,334  (4,566) (11,900)

Total capital expenditure   12,725  7,348  (5,377)

Grand total of appropriations 39,058  45,599  6,541 

Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates 

for the year ended 30 June 2002     

Estimate

 

Actual

 

Variance

continued…

2001-02
($’000) ($’000)($’000)



Contents | Year in Review | Review of Operations | Products and Services | Financial Statement | Appendices | Glossary9 5  

Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates 

for the year ended 30 June 2002     

Details of revenue estimates

Administered revenue estimates

Territorial

 Land - leases 2,505  3,824  1,319 

Capital - asset sales

 Town and Suburban lots 15,000  17,348  2,348 

 Crown Grants - land sales 91,322  43,724  (47,598)

Departmental

 Fines 0  43  43 

 Other 0  2  2 

Total administered revenue estimates 108,827  64,941  (43,886)

Estimate Variance Variance

° Explanations of variations between the current year estimates and actual results are set out in Note 43.

2001-02
($’000) ($’000)($’000)
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Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2002

1. Departmental mission and funding

The Department’s mission is to contribute to the growth and prosperity of Western Australia through 

innovative land services, a world class land information infrastructure and an effective and impartial valuation 

and property information service.

The Department is predominantly funded by revenue retained in accordance with a determination by the 

Treasurer under Section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act and by annual Parliamentary 

appropriation from the Consolidated Fund.  

The services provided by the Department are on a fee-for-service basis. The fees are charged on a full 

cost recovery basis. The fi nancial statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls 

resources to carry on its functions.

In the process of reporting on the Department as a single entity, all intra-entity transactions and balances 

have been eliminated.

2. Signifi cant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial statements. Unless 

otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.

General statement

The fi nancial statements constitute a general purpose fi nancial report which has been prepared in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 

authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group 

(UIG) Consensus Views as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modifi ed by the 

Treasurer’s Instructions to vary the application, disclosure, format and wording.  The Financial Administration 

and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of fi nancial 

statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts 

and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and UIG Consensus 

Views. The modifi cations are intended to fulfi l the requirements of general application to the public sector, 

together with the need for greater disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements.

If any such modifi cation has a material or signifi cant fi nancial effect upon the reported results, details of 

that modifi cation and where practicable, the resulting fi nancial effect are disclosed in individual notes to 

these fi nancial statements.  

Basis of accounting

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 29 

(Financial Reporting for Government Departments). 

The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 

with the exception of land which subsequent to initial recognition, have been measured on the fair value 

basis (see Notes 2(o), 25 and 26).
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Proceeds from the sale of land, special and other leases and fi nes are reported as administered transactions 

in the Schedule of Administered Items at Note 45.

Administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not integral to the Department in carrying out 

its functions and are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements, forming part of the general purpose 

fi nancial report of the Department. The administered items are disclosed on the same basis as is described 

above for the fi nancial statements of the Department. The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and 

revenues are those which the Government requires the Department to administer on its behalf. The assets 

do not render any service potential or future economic benefi ts to the Department, the liabilities do not 

require the future sacrifi ce of service potential or future economic benefi ts of the Department, and the 

expenses and revenues are not attributable to the Department.

As the administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not recognised in the principal fi nancial 

statements of the Department, the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33, 

Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments, are not applied to Administered transactions.

(a) Output appropriations

Output Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of 

the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 

deposited into the Department’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of 

Treasury and Finance. (Refer to Note 14 for further information on output appropriations).

(b) Contributed equity

Under UIG 38 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities” transfers in the 

nature of equity contributions must be designated by the Government (owners) as contributions by owners 

(at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions in 

the fi nancial statements. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by 

owners and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity in the Statement of Financial Position. All other 

transfers have been recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. Prior to the current reporting 

period, capital appropriations were recognised as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Capital appropriations which are repayable to the Treasurer are recognised as liabilities. 

(c) Net appropriation determination

Pursuant to section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, the net appropriation determination 

by the Treasurer allows the Department to retain all recurrent Departmental revenue and Commonwealth 

Specifi c Purpose Grants and apply them to the Department’s outputs as specifi ed in the annual Budget 

Statements. In accordance with the determination, the Department retained $60.201m (accrual) as at 30 

June 2002. 

Retained revenues are disclosed in the Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue 

Estimates.
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(d) Grants and other contributions

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue when the 

Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions. Control is normally obtained upon 

their receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair 

value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of services, is recognised 

when the Department has passed control of the goods or other assets or delivery of the service to the 

customer.

Revenue from the lease of land and rental of buildings is recognised as per the terms of the lease 

agreement.

(f) Acquisitions of assets

The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is measured as the fair value of 

the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the 

date of acquisition.

(g) Operating account

Amounts appropriated are deposited into the account and any revenues which are the subject of net 

appropriation determinations are also deposited into the account. Revenues not subject to net appropriation 

determinations are credited to the Consolidated Fund. All payments of the Department are made from the 

operating account.

(h) Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a 

manner which refl ects the consumption of their future economic benefi ts.

Depreciation and amortisation is provided for on the straight line basis, using rates which are reviewed 

annually or as set in the terms of the contract. Useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

 Furniture        – 11 years

 Offi ce equipment      – 8 - 15 years

 Computer equipment     – 3 - 5 years

 Service delivery software and project costs  – 4 - 8 years
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(i) Employee entitlements

Annual leave

This entitlement is recognised at current remuneration rates which have been applied to the amount of 

unpaid leave as at 30 June 2002 in respect of employees service up to that date.

Long service leave

An actuarial assessment of long service leave was carried out as at 30 June 2002 and was measured at 

the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees 

up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 

relevant oncosts, experience of employee  departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 

discounted using interest rates to obtain the estimated future cash outfl ows.

Superannuation

Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defi ned benefi ts pension scheme now closed to new 

members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defi ned benefi t lump sum scheme now also 

closed to new members. All staff who do not contribute to either of these schemes become non-contributory 

members of the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with the 

Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. All of these schemes 

are administered by the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

The superannuation expense comprises the following elements:

(i)  change in the unfunded employer’s liability in respect of current employees who are members of the 

Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefi t on transfer from that Scheme to the 

Gold  State Superannuation Scheme; and 

(ii) employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the West State 

Superannuation Scheme. 

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute 

part of the cost of services provided by the Department in the current year.  

A revenue “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer” equivalent to (i) is recognised under Revenues from 

Government in the Statement of Financial Performance as the unfunded liability that is assumed by the 

Treasurer. The GESB makes the benefi t payments and is recouped by the Treasurer.

From 1 July 2001 employer contributions were paid to the GESB in respect of the Gold State Superannuation 

Scheme and the West State Superannuation Scheme. The unfunded liability in respect of these Schemes 

continued to be assumed by the Treasurer. Prior to 1 July 2001, a notional amount equivalent to the employer 

contributions which would have been paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme and the West State 

Superannuation Scheme if the Department had made concurrent employer contributions to those Schemes, 

was included in superannuation expense. This amount was also included in the revenue item “Liabilities 

assumed by the Treasurer”.
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(j) Leases

The Department’s rights and obligations under fi nance leases, which are leases that effectively transfer to 

the Department substantially all of the risks and benefi ts incidental to ownership of the leased items, are 

initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. The assets are disclosed as offi ce and computer equipment under lease, and are amortised to the 

Statement of Financial Performance over the period during which the Department is expected to benefi t from 

use of the leased assets. Minimum lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of 

the lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Finance lease liabilities are allocated between current and non-current components. The principal 

component of lease payments due on or before the end of the succeeding year is disclosed as a current 

liability, and the remainder of the lease liability is disclosed as a non-current liability.

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for buildings, offi ce equipment 

and vehicles where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks and benefi ts incidental to ownership of 

the items held under the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the 

Statement of Financial Performance over the lease term as this is representative of the pattern of benefi ts 

to be derived from the leased property.

(k) Cash

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and restricted cash assets. 

These include short-term deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to 

insignifi cant risk of changes in value.

(l) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more than 30 days 

from the date of recognition. 

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are 

written off.  A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some doubts as to collection exist.

Land sales (Administered)

Land sold is recognised on signing of the contract of sale where terms of payment are generally 60 days. 

Some contracts of sale are greater than 60 days attracting penalty interest rates. These receivables are 

recognised in the Administered Schedule (Note 45).  
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(m) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer Note 21) consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense 

account over a period of 10 fi nancial years to largely meet the additional cash outfl ow in each eleventh year 

when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Accrued salaries (refer Note 29) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the fi nancial 

year, as the end of the last pay period for that fi nancial year does not coincide with the end of the fi nancial 

year. Accrued salaries are settled within a few days of the fi nancial year end. The Department considers the 

carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.

(n) Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make 

future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables are generally settled within 30 

days.

(o) Land 

Land is reported in the Administered Statements (see Note 45 Schedule of Administered Items) with the 

exception of land under leases (Pastoral and Other) which is reported as controlled at Note 26.

Items which relate directly to land is summarised below:

1) Crown land 

Crown land including land under leases are administered by the Department under the Land Administration 

Act which is valued at fair value (Valuer General’s valuation) and are classifi ed as non-current assets.

2) Cost of sales 

Cost of sales for land is reported as Administered.

i) Developed land - This item is costed at its fair value of undeveloped land plus the development cost for 

subdividing into lots available for sale.

ii) Undeveloped Land - This component entails Crown Grants and closed roads which are costed at sale 

proceeds and this refl ects fair value.

(p) Special and other leases (Administered)

According to Sections 116 and 117 of the Land Act 1933 and Section 79 of the Land Administration Act 

1997, rents in regard to special and other leases, are received in advance. The lessee often has the 

opportunity to purchase this land at fair value (Valuer General’s valuation). The prospective purchaser can 

purchase by instalments subject to ministerial approval, but must continue to pay rent under the special 

lease Section 117AA of the Land Act 1933, and Section 80 of the Land Administration Act 1997.

These leases are recognised in the Schedule of Administered Items (see Note 45) in accordance with AAS 

29 (Financial Reporting  for Government Departments).
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(q) Resources received free of charge or for nominal value

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value which can be reliably measured are recognised as 

revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate at fair value.

(r) Revaluation of land and improvements 

The annual revaluations of the Department’s land and improvements undertaken by the Valuer General for 

the Government Property Register are recognised in the fi nancial statements at fair value. The last valuation 

was performed as at 30 June 2002.

(s) Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates in existence at the dates of 

the transactions.

(t) Inventory

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most 

appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a fi rst in fi rst out basis.

(u) Joint venture operations

The Department administer’s a joint venture operation on behalf of the Minister. Interests in joint venture 

operations have been reported in the Schedule of Administered Items (see Note 45) including the Minister’s 

share of assets employed in the joint venture, the share of liability incurred in relation to the joint venture and 

the share of any revenues earned and expenses incurred in relation to the joint venture in their respective 

classifi cation categories.

(v) Comparatives

From 1 July 2001, the former Valuer General’s Offi ce was merged with the Department in accordance with 

the recommendations of the Machinery of Government Taskforce. Due to the signifi cant restructuring of 

activities, comparative fi gures for 2000-01 are not provided, pursuant to Treasurer’s Instruction 949(5).

(w) Rounding

Amounts in the fi nancial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 

to the nearest dollar.
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3. Outputs of the Department

Information about the Department’s outputs, and the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable 

to those outputs is set out in the Outputs Schedule. Information about expenses, revenues, assets and 

liabilities administered by the Department are given in Note 45.

The six outputs of the Department and their objectives are:

Output 1: Management and Use of Government Land

Government land is developed, allocated and administered for residential, commercial, industrial, 

conservation, heritage and other community purposes.

Output 2: Land Information

Information about land and land ownership is collected, recorded and made available for use by 

Government, business and the community.

Output 3: Access to Government Land or Geographic Information

Land information from 27 Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) stakeholder agencies is 

managed in a coordinated way so that data held by agencies can be integrated and readily accessed to 

meet Government, business and community needs.

Output 4: Rating and Taxing Valuations

The completion of accurate valuation rolls of all rateable land in the State and timely provision of the rolls 

to rating and taxing authorities. The maintenance of the valuation rolls through the periodic re-assessment 

of Gross Rental Values and Unimproved Values of rateable land. The amendment of the valuation roll to 

take account of changes to property and resolving objections, appeals and queries lodged against the 

values in the roll.

Output 5: Other Valuations

The provision of an independent and impartial property valuation and consultancy service to the 

Government, local government and statutory clients for a variety of reasons including sale, purchase, lease 

or compensation, stamp duty assessment, fi nancial asset management and reporting.

Output 6: Advisory Services

The provision of property-related data and sales information to Government agencies and corporations, 

statutory clients, the real estate industry and wider community.

4. Employee expenses

 Salaries 40,666

 Superannuation 6,093

 Annual Leave                      3,825

 Long Service Leave 1,837

  52,421

2001-02
 ($’000)
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5. Depreciation and amortisation

 Depreciation: 

  Furniture 315

  Equipment 195

  Service delivery software and project costs 2,300

  Computer hardware equipment 1,564

  4,374

  Amortisation: 

  Leased equipment 2

 Total depreciation and amortisation 4,376

6. Administration expenses 

 Services and contracts 17,321

 Other staffi ng costs 1,046

 Lease offi ce equipment 752

 Communications 692

 Insurance 514

 Consumables 557

 Resources received free of charge 333

 Other administration expenses 2,112

  23,327

7. Accommodation expenses 

 Accommodation 8,286

 Electricity, gas and water 701

  8,987

8. Capital user charge 2,864

2,864

A capital user charge rate of 8% has been set by the Government for 2001/02 and represents the opportunity 

cost of capital invested in the net assets of the Department used in the provision of outputs. The charge 

is calculated on the net assets adjusted to take account of exempt assets. Payments are made to the 

Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis.

2001-02
 ($’000)
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9. Net loss on disposal of non-current assets

 Offi ce and computer hardware equipment

 Capital cost 786

 Write back of depreciation (779)

 Proceeds  0

 Net loss on disposal 7

10. User charges and fees      

 Land Titles Management 

  Search  14,924

  Transfer  10,555

  Mortgage 7,843

  Discharge  7,192

  Other  5,369

  45,883

    

 Valuation Services 8,399

 Land Administration Act fees 54

 Other services            

  Mapping and survey 139

 Total user charges and fees 54,475

11. Net proceeds from the sale of maps and plans 

 Proceeds from sale  2,058

 Cost of sale (452)

 Net proceeds 1,606

12. Proceeds from DOLA International Projects 

 Proceeds  

 Bangladesh 473

 Other Projects 19

   492

Funds received under contract by the Department have mostly been from the Asian Development Bank 

(ADB) for the purpose of review and modernisation of land administration systems and also from organised 

Study Tour programs into DOLA.

2001-02
 ($’000)



Contents | Year in Review | Review of Operations | Products and Services | Financial Statement | Appendices | Glossary1 0 6  

13. Other revenue 

 Rental  

  Pastoral leases  1,004

  Buildings 1,014

 Total rental 2,018

 Land Claims Mapping Unit 707

 Recovery of costs 272

 Other  631

 Total other revenue 3,628

14. Output Appropriation  

 Consolidated Fund 

 Recurrent 33,685

33,685

Output appropriations are accrual amounts as from 1 July 2001, refl ecting the full price paid for outputs 

purchased by the Government. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 

(asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises an allocation for depreciation expense for the year and 

any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. In 2001-02 the receivable related only to depreciation. 

15. Refund to Consolidated Fund 

 Refund of capital (2,553)

(2,553)

As a result of recommendations to Government by the Machinery of Government Taskforce, the 

Department’s land development function was transferred to Landcorp from 1 July 2001. Land development 

funding of $2.553m that remained unspent at 30 June 2001 was therefore returned to Treasury in 2001-02.

As these capital funds had been recognised in 2000-01 as Revenues from Government in the Statement of 

Financial Performance, the refund has also been recognised there. 

2001-02
 ($’000)
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16. Resources received free of charge 

 Administration expenses 333

Resources received free of charge have been determined on the basis of the following estimates provided 

by agencies:

 Department of Housing and Works 2

 Ministry of Justice 239

 Offi ce of the Auditor General  92

  333

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the department 

recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can 

be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be 

recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

17. Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer

 Superannuation   1,704

1,704

Where a liability has been assumed by the Treasurer or other entity, the department recognises revenues 

equivalent to the amount of the liability assumed and an expense relating to the nature of the event or events 

that initially gave rise to the liability. 

18. Net assets assumed 

 Assets assumed 18,427

 Assets transferred (501)

17,926

The net assets assumed is the result of leased land being transferred between DOLA controlled (see Note 

26) and DOLA administered (see Note 45).

2001-02
 ($’000)



Contents | Year in Review | Review of Operations | Products and Services | Financial Statement | Appendices | Glossary1 0 8  

19. Net revenues from restructuring    

As at 1 July 2001, the following net assets were assumed due to the merger of the former Valuer General’s 

Offi ce with the Department.

 Assets  

  Current 3,688

  Non-current 6,640

10,328

 Liabilities 

  Current 1,531

  Non-current 860

  2,391

 Net assets 7,937

20.  Cash assets 

 International bank accounts 1

 Cash on hand 62

 Operating bank account 13,236

  13,299

21. Restricted cash assets 

 Current 

 Survey lodgement fees   (i) 26

 Other suspense accounts (ii) 243

269

 Non-current 

 Accrued salaries suspense (iii) 1,453

1,722

i)  Subdivision fees collected on behalf of Department for Planning and Infrastructure

ii) Funds received and awaiting distribution to appropriate accounts. 

iii) Amount held in the suspense account is only used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a fi nancial 

 year that occurs every 11 years.

2001-02
 ($’000)
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22. Receivables 

 Land titles management fees 1,482

 Valuation Services Fees 7,228

 Map sales 570

 Rentals  358

 Goods and services tax (receivable from tax authority) 14

 Other 141

 Less: Provision for doubtful debts (255)

9,538

23. Amounts receivable for outputs 

 Current 755

 Non-current 4,106

4,861

This amount represents the non-cash component of output appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only 

be used for asset replacement. 

24. Prepayments 

 Data processing contracts 508

 Salaries 22

 Other 38

569

2001-02
 ($’000)
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25.a) Equipment, software and furniture  

 Equipment 

  At cost 2,322

  Accumulated depreciation (1,700)

622

 Equipment leased 

  At cost 45

  Accumulated amortisation (45)

  0

 Computer hardware equipment 

  At cost 11,047

  Accumulated depreciation (8,577)

2,470

 Computer equipment leased  

  At cost 73

  Accumulated amortisation (73)

0

 Total equipment 3,092

 Furniture 

  At cost 1,862

  Accumulated depreciation (1,505)

 Total furniture 357

 Service delivery software and project costs 

  At cost 26,109

  Accumulated depreciation (14,336)

  Written down value 11,773

  Work in progress 4,489

 Total service delivery 16,262

 Total equipment, software and furniture    19,711

2001-02
 ($’000)
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b)  Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of equipment, software and furniture at the beginning and end of 

the current fi nancial year are set out below.

26. Land  

(a) Leased land  37,742

Leased land represents Pastoral and Other leases that satisfy the criteria for controlled assets under AAS 

29 and SAC 4. Land which does not satisfy this criteria but for which the Department has immediate 

responsibility, are reported as Administered assets (see Note 45).

(b) Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of leased land at the beginning and end of the current fi nancial 

year are set out below.

 Carrying amount at start of year    17,691

 Assets assumed (see Note 18)    18,427

 Assets transferred (see Note 18)    (501)

 Net revaluations (see Note 30)     2,125

 Carrying amount at end of year    37,742

2001 – 02

Carrying amount

at start of year  

Assets transferred in -

   Valuer General’s   

Additions  

Disposals  

Depreciation  

Accumulated   

   dep disposal 
 
Carrying amount at 
end of year  

Equipment

($’000)

625

121

76

(43)

(195)

38

622

Equipment

Leased

($’000)

2

0

0

0

(2)

0

0

Computer 

Hardware

Equipment

($’000)

2,803

386

845

(762)

(1,564)

762

2,470

Furniture

($’000)

496

119

58

(15)

(315)

14

357

Service 

delivery 

software and 

project costs

($’000)

94

3,547

10,432

0

(2,300)

0

11,773

Total

($’000)

4,020

4,173

11,411

(820)

(4,376)

814

15,222

2001-02
 ($’000)
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27. Payables  

 Trade 204

 Government agencies 373

 Other 321

898

28. Provisions 

 Current liabilities 

 Annual leave 2,601

 Long service leave 4,993

  7,594

 Non-current liabilities 

 Long service leave 3,788

 Total employee entitlements 11,382

In determining the Department’s leave liability as at 30 June 2002, oncosts totalling $1.159m including 

employer superannuation contributions and workers compensation have been taken into account in 

accordance with AAS 30.

29. Other liabilities 

 Accrued expenses 

 Accommodation 1,703

 Fringe benefi ts tax 50

 Other 782

  2,535

 Salaries and wages 1,298

  3,833

Accrued salaries are amounts owing for 6 working days from 21 June to 30 June 2002. 

Accrued salaries are settled within a few days of the fi nancial year end.

 Unearned revenue 

 Purchase of goods 167

 Legal services 120

 Other 30

317

 Total other liabilities 4,150

2001-02
 ($’000)



Contents | Year in Review | Review of Operations | Products and Services | Financial Statement | Appendices | Glossary11 3  

30.  Equity 

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The Government holds the equity 

interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion 

of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

 Accumulated surplus/(defi ciency) 

 Opening Balance  15,987

 Change in net assets after restructuring 27,139

 Closing balance 43,126

 Contributed equity 

 Capital Contributions 11,914

11,914
 

From 1 July 2001, capital appropriations, termed Capital Contributions, have been designated as 

contributions by owners and are credited to equity in the Statement of Financial Position.

 Asset revaluation reserve (a) 

 Opening Balance  14,758

 Net revaluation increment/(decrement) - leased land 2,125

 Closing balance 16,883

 Total equity 71,923

(a) The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non 

current assets, as described in signifi cant accounting policy Note 2(r).  

31.  Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

 (a) Reconciliation of closing cash 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash at bank, amounts in suspense and 

restricted cash. Cash at the end of the fi nancial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled 

to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

 Cash assets 12,350

 Cash assets from restructuring 949

 Total cash assets  (see Note 20) 13,299

 Restricted cash assets (see Note 21) 1,722

  15,021

2001-02
 ($’000)
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 (b) Reconciliation of net cash used in operating activities to net cost of services 

 Net cash (used in) operating activities (Statement of Cash Flows) (25,045)

 Non-cash items: 

 Depreciation expense (4,376)

 Superannuation expense (1,704)

 Resources received free of charge (333)

 Doubtful debts expense (112)

 Net loss on disposal of non-current assets (7)

 Net adjustment for administered transactions (971)
 

 Increase/(decrease) in assets: 

 Current inventories (528)

 Current receivables 2,420

 Prepayments (445)

 Accrued revenue  (113)

 (Increase)/decrease in liabilities: 

 Accounts payable (284)

 Employee entitlements (834)

 Other liabilities (532)

 Financial leases 1
 

 Net GST receipts/(payments) 956

 Change in GST in receivables/payables 14

 Net cost of services (Statement of Financial Performance) 31,893

2001-02
 ($’000)
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32.  Resources provided free of charge 

During the year the following resources in excess of $10,000 were provided to other agencies free of charge 

for functions outside the normal operations of the Department: 

 Department of Treasury and Finance 6,826

 Commissioner of Main Roads 724

 Department of the Premier and Cabinet 677

 Department for Planning and Infrastructure 650

 Department of Conservation and Land Management 631

 Western Australian Police Service 613

 Department of Environmental Protection  566

 Department of Agriculture 254

 Department of Mineral and Petroleum Resources 247

 Department of Housing and Works 245

 Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia 236

 Department of Justice 128

 Department of Education 119

 Water & Rivers Commission 82

 Department of Health 58

 Department of Transport 43

 Western Australian Electoral Commission 20

  12,119

 Resources provided to other agencies which were less than $10,000 per agency. 316

 Resources provided free of charge to organisations other than departments and  

 statutory authorities: 4,367
 

 Total resources provided free of charge 16,802

 The above fi gures are costed on the basis of fee for service.

2001-02
 ($’000)
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33.  Commitments 

(a) Capital expenditure  

Capital expenditure commitments are contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported 

in the fi nancial statements.  These commitments include amounts for offi ce and computer equipment and 

consultancy and are payable as follows:

 Within 1 year 1,272

  1,272

(b) Operating lease expenditure 

These commitments are in respect to non cancellable leases contracted for at the reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities. These leases include offi ce accommodation, offi ce equipment and motor vehicles.

 Within 1 year 7,355

 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 29,061

 Later than 5 years  48,361

84,777

(c) Other expenditure commitments 

These expenditure commitments relate to general administration expenses and are payable as follows:

 Within 1 year 1,547

1,547

 (d) Operating lease receivables 

These are operating lease receivables as at the reporting date and include Pastoral leases and Building 

leases.

 Within 1 year 2,020

 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7,874

 Later than 5 years  8,412

18,306

2001-02
 ($’000)
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34. Remuneration and retirement benefi ts of senior offi cers  

 Remuneration 

The number of senior offi cers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefi ts for the 

fi nancial year, fall within the following bands are:

 $  $ 2001-02 

 100,001  – 110,000   3 

 110,001  – 120,000   2 

 120,001  – 130,000   1 

 140,001  – 150,000   1 

 The total remuneration of senior offi cers is: 823

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in 

respect of senior offi cers.

 Three senior offi cers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

 

35. Financial Instruments  

 (a) Interest rate risk exposure 

The following table details the Department’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the operating date. The 

fi nancial instruments listed are all non interest bearing.

  Financial instruments Non Interest 
   Bearing Total  
   2001-02 
   ($’000) 

 Financial assets 

 Cash assets  13,299 

 Restricted cash assets  1,722 

 Receivables  

  Valuation Services  7,228 

  Land tenure  1,482 

  Map sales  570 

  Other  258 

   24,559 

 Financial liabilities  

 Payables    898 

 Provisions  11,382 

 Unearned revenue  317 

   12,597 

2001-02
 ($’000)
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 (b) Credit risk exposure  

 All fi nancial assets are unsecured. 

Amounts owing by other government agencies are not considered a credit risk. In respect of other fi nancial 

assets the carrying amounts represent the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to 

those assets. 

(c) Net fair values  

The carrying amount of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded in the fi nancial statements are not 

materially different from their net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed 

in Note 2 to the fi nancial statements. 

36. Contingent liabilities 

In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the fi nancial statements, the Department has the following 

contingent liabilities:

 (i) The agency has pending or potential litigation that may affect the fi nancial position to the value

  of $972,302.

 (ii) The Department has a potential liability claim in respect to a land resumption at an estimated cost of

  $40m. There is a bill before Parliament which seeks to clarify this area of law. The litigant has not 

  advanced his claim until the outcome of the attempted legislative amendment is known.

 (iii) Having regard for the large number of native title claims in Western Australia, the Department’s role

  in the administration of the Crown estate may result in future compensation liability for the State.

 (iv) There is a pending claim of copyright by land surveyors for the on selling of survey plan data by the 

  Department.  These survey plan data are lodged with the Department by land surveyors for title 

  production and perfection purposes.
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37. Intellectual property 

DOLA’s intellectual property consists of software, data, databases, administrative records, publications, 

products, trademarks and know-how in the categories listed below. At reporting date the intellectual property 

cannot be reliably measured, and accordingly has not been recognised as an asset in the fi nancial 

statements:

1) Air Photography

2) Cadastral

  • Spatial Cadastral Data Base (SCDB)

  • Survey Plans

  • Survey Diagrams

  • Survey Field books

3) Corporate Computing

4) Crown Land Administration

  • Land Stock Register

  • Document Processing System

  • Project Management Performance and Tracking (PROMPT) System 

  • Quality Assurance System

  • Pastoral Lands Information System

5) Desktop Technology

6) Geodetic Survey Marks database

7) Geographic Names

8) Government Property Register

9) International

10) Mapping Products (digital and analogue)

11) Publications (including Internet design)

12) Tenure

  • Tenure Systems

  • Title and Document Images

13) Topographic 

  • Street Centreline

  • Property Street Address (PSA)

14) Satellite Imagery 

38. Events occurring after balance date 

There have been no signifi cant events occurring after 30 June 2002, that affect these fi nancial statements.
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39. Related body

 The Department had one related body during the fi nancial year meeting all operating expenses of:

 Pastoral Lands Board 575,033

575,033

 
40. Affi liated body 

The Land Surveyors’ Licensing Board is an affi liated body in that it received administrative support and a 

grant of $10,000 from the Department. The Board is not subject to the operational control of the Department 

and reports to Parliament separately.

41. Supplementary information 

 (a) Write offs 

Public and other property, revenue and debts due to the State, written off in accordance with Section 45 

of the Financial and Administration and Audit Act by:

  The Accountable Offi cer 23,101 

  The Minister 0 

  Executive Council 0 

  23,101 

 (b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 

  Losses of public monies and public and other property through theft or default  48 

  Amount recovered 0 

  48 

 (c) Gifts of Public Property 

  Gifts of public property provided by the Department 3,248 

3,248 

2001-02
 ($)
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42.  Trust Fund Statements 

 The trust funds are reported on a cash basis.

 Private Trust 

 (a) Payroll Deductions 

The purpose of the trust account is to hold Pay As You Earn (PAYE) income tax instalments and Government 

Housing Authority (GEHA) rent contributions, deducted from salaries and wages of employees of the 

Department of Land Administration Group Payroll.

 Opening balance  25 

 Receipts  10,884 

 Payments 

  The Australian Taxation Offi ce  (10,900)

  GEHA  (6)

 Closing balance  3 

 (b) Deposits: Land Applications 

The purpose of the trust account is to hold funds in accordance with the provisions of the Land

Administration Act and the former Land Act, being deposits received from applicants, pending the issue 

of licenses or leases.

 Opening balance 832

 Receipts: 

  Deposits 12,492 

 Payments 

  Refunds (103)

 Transfers to: 

  Consolidated Fund (13,068)

 Closing balance 153

 (c) War Service Land Settlement 

The purpose of the trust fund is to hold funds pending transfer to the Commonwealth Department of Primary 

Industry – Production Branch.

 Opening balance 4

 Receipts: 

  Perpetual Lease Rents 386

  Freehold Option Price 199

 Payments: 

  Remittances to the Commonwealth (587)

 Closing balance 2

2001-02
 ($’000)
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 Governmental Trust 

 (d) DBNGP Corridor Trust 

The Department administers this Trust Account on behalf of the DBNGP Land Access Minister. The purpose 

of the trust account  is to hold funds received pursuant to section 45(2) of the Dampier to Bunbury Pipeline 

Act 1997 for application in accordance with section 45(5) of that Act. 

 Opening balance 39,073

 Receipts: 

  Fees and charges 1,526

 Payments: 

  Administration (3,015)

  Purchase of easement rights (1,110)

 Closing balance 36,474

 Suspense 

 (e) Departmental Receipts in Suspense 

The purpose of the receipts in suspense is to hold funds pending identifi cation of the purpose for which 

these monies were received or identifi cation of where those monies are to be credited or paid, pursuant to 

Section 9 (2) (c) (iv) of the Financial Administration and Audit Act.

 Opening Balance  353

 Receipts 151

 Payments (234)

 Closing Balance  270

2001-02
 ($’000)
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43.  Explanatory statement 

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses appropriations and 

other statutes expenditure estimates, the actual expenditures made and revenue estimates and payments 

into the Consolidated Fund.

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 949(5), variance comparisons with 2000-01 are not provided due 

to the restructuring that occurred as a result of the merger of the former Valuer General’s Offi ce with the 

Department (see Note 2 - signifi cant accounting policy (v), Comparatives).

The following explanations are provided for signifi cant variations from budget, in accordance with Treasurer’s 

Instruction 945.

Signifi cant variations are considered to be those greater than 10%.

Signifi cant variations between budget estimates and actual results for the fi nancial year 

   Estimate Actual Variance
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

 1. Expenditure 

 1.1 Output 5 Other Valuations 4,592 5,071 479

Expenditure ended $479,000 or 10.4% above the budget estimate, refl ecting an increase in economic 

activity levels for the reporting period, which is offset by an increase in retained revenue.

 1.2  Output 6 Advisory Services 780 877 97

Expenditure was $97,000 or 12.4% greater than budget due to offsetting increases in retained revenue, in 

particular sales evidence.

 2.  Retained Revenue 50,892 60,201 9,309

A better than expected result in the areas of searches $1.568m, transfers $2.490m, mortgages $1.345m,

discharges $1.096m and valuation services $1.458m contributed towards the $9.309m or 18.3% variance 

to budget.

 3.  Capital Expenditure 
  

 3.1  Capital Contribution 5,391 11,914 6,523

Supplementary funding was approved for the Electronic Land Titles (BackCapture) Project for $6.523m.

 3.2  Capital Expenditure 12,725 7,348 (5,377)

Part of the funding for the Department’s approved capital works program for 2001/02 included the planned 

sale of assets in order to subsequently receive offsetting supplementary funding. The sales were not realised 

until later in the year and this necessitated prudent cash fl ow management that delayed the purchase of 

some replacement assets.
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   Estimate Actual Variance
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)
 
 4. Administered Revenue 

 4.1 Land Leases 2,505 3,824 1,319

The estimate for land leases proved conservative with lease rentals realising $1.319m better than budget.

 4.2  Town and Suburban lots 15,000  17,348  2,348

Sales for Town and Suburban lots were underestimated to the extent of $2.348m. 

 4.3 Crown Grants - land sales 91,322 43,724 (47,598)

The variation of $47.598m below the estimate is mainly due to lower sales relating to the Education 

Department $36.937m and Westrail - $10.041m.

44. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement 

 The provision of services to the Indian Ocean territories are recouped from the Commonwealth government.  

 Opening balance (143)

 Receipts 171

 Payments (131)

 Closing balance (103)

45.  Schedule of Administered Items 

The Schedule of Administered Items are not controlled by the Department but are administered by it on 

behalf of the Government.

(i) Administered Expenses and Revenues

(ii) Administered Assets and Liabilities

2001-02
 ($’000)
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Schedule of Administered Items
For the Year Ended 30 June 2002    

Administered Item 

(i) Administered expenses and revenues 

Expenses   

 Cost of sales 

  Developed land - Town and Suburban lots  0  25,262  25,262

  Other Developed land  0  5,235  5,235 

  Undeveloped land  0  37,268  37,268

  Closed roads  0  707  707 

 Other 2 0  213  213 

 Payments under the Dampier to Bunbury  

 Pipeline Act 1997  2,766  0  2,766  

Total administered expenses  2,766  68,685  71,451 

Revenues  

 Developed land - Town and Suburban lots 1 0  17,348  17,348 

 Other Developed land  0  4,910  4,910 

 Undeveloped land  0  38,107  38,107 

 Closed roads  0  707  707  

 Lease  0  3,824  3,824 

 Other 2 0  45  45 

 Revenue collected under the Dampier to Bunbury  

 Pipeline Act 1997  1,224  0  1,224 

Total administered revenues 3 1,224  64,941  66,165 

(ii) Administered assets and liabilities 

Assets 

Current 

 Cash  36,474  153  36,627 

 Receivables  318  8,050  8,368 

 Other 2 0  1,913  1,913 

Non-current 

 Plant and equipment    23  0  23 

 Receivables  0  10,077  10,077 

 Crown land 4 2,030  1,450,686  1,452,716 

Total administered assets 3 38,845  1,470,879  1,509,724

Note

DBNGP 
Corridor

Trust 
Account Land Total

continued…

2001-02
($’000) ($’000)($’000)
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Liabilities 

 Current 

 Unearned revenue  332  3,602  3,934 

 Payables 2 540  5  545 

Total administered liabilities  872  3,607  4,479 

Notes 

1. Included in the $17.348m sales was an amount of $11.930m for the bulk sale of lots to LandCorp as part of 

Machinery of Government changes where LandCorp has taken over from DOLA the development and sale 

of land lots in country regions.

2. In 2001-02 the Minister had a 26% interest in a joint venture with LandCorp and City of Bunbury to develop, 

subdivide and sell land in Bunbury.  The following represents the Minister’s interest in the joint venture 

operation:

    
($’000)

  Revenues 2 

  Expenses 104 

  Net profi t (102)

  

  Assets  1913

  Liabilities 5

  Net Assets 1908

3. Proceeds from asset disposals, other than those relating the DBNGP Corridor Trust Account, are paid into the 

Consolidated Fund.    

4. The Crown land has been adjusted down by $17.926m representing net assets transferred to DOLA 

controlled.      

Administered Item

Note

DBNGP 
Corridor

Trust 
Account Land Total

2001-02
($’000) ($’000)($’000)
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To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF LAND ADMINISTRATION 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
 

This audit opinion relates to the fi nancial statements of the Department of Land Administration for the year 

ended June 30, 2002 included on the Department of Land Administration’s web site. The Chief Executive is 

responsible for the integrity of the Department of Land Administration’s web site. I have not been engaged to 

report on the integrity of this web site. The audit opinion refers only to the statements named below. It does not 

provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from these statements. If 

users of this opinion are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications, they are 

advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited fi nancial statements to confi rm the information included in the 

audited fi nancial statements presented on this web site.

Scope 

I have audited the accounts and fi nancial statements of the Department of Land Administration for the year 

ended June 30, 2002 under the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for keeping proper accounts and maintaining adequate systems of internal 

control, preparing and presenting the fi nancial statements, and complying with the Act and other relevant written 

law. The primary responsibility for the detection, investigation and prevention of irregularities rests with the 

Chief Executive. 

My audit was performed in accordance with section 79 of the Act to form an opinion based on a reasonable 

level of assurance. The audit procedures included examining, on a test basis, the controls exercised by 

the Department to ensure fi nancial regularity in accordance with legislative provisions, evidence to provide 

reasonable assurance that the amounts and other disclosures in the fi nancial statements are free of material 

misstatement and the evaluation of accounting policies and signifi cant accounting estimates. These procedures 

have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, the fi nancial statements 

are presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s Instructions so as to present a view which is consistent with my 

understanding of the Department’s fi nancial position, its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows.
 

The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 
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Department of Land Administration 

Financial statement for the year ended June 30, 2002 

Audit Opinion 

In my opinion, 

(i)  the controls exercised by the Department of Land Administration provide reasonable assurance that 

the receipt and expenditure of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of 

liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

(ii) the Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash Flows, 

Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues and Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and 

Revenue Estimates and the Notes to and forming part of the fi nancial statements are based on proper 

accounts and present fairly in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s Instructions, the fi nancial position 

of the Department at June 30, 2002 and its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows for the year 

then ended. 

D D R PEARSON 

AUDITOR GENERAL 

October 11, 2002 
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Appendices

Appendix A 

On 20 May 1986, His Excellency, the Governor in Executive Council, approved 

the establishment of the Department of Land Administration (DOLA). The Public 

Service Board determined the effective date of operation as 1 July 1986.  

The Valuer General’s Offi ce was established in 1979, in accordance with the 

Valuation of Land Act 1978. On 30 June 2001, the Valuer General’s Offi ce 

merged with the Department of Land Administration, in accordance with section 

65 (2) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

Legislation administered 

DOLA is responsible for the administration of numerous Acts of Parliament 

relating to land. Those most directly affecting the Department’s daily business 

activities are: 

Land Administration Act 1997 – provides for the administration, development 

and disposition of Crown land; creation and closure of roads; acquisition of land 

for public works; and full operation of DOLA International.

Transfer of Land Act 1893 – establishes the Torrens System of registering 

freehold tenure, transactions and interests over land.

Registration of Deeds Act 1856 – outlines a system of registering conveyances, 

wills and other deeds affecting land for which no Certifi cate of Title has been 

issued.

Valuation of Land Act 1978 – established a central valuation authority to record, 

coordinate and carry out values on property for all rating and taxing purposes 

within the State.

Strata Titles Act 1985 – facilitates the subdivision of land into spaces for home 

units, and for the management of strata schemes.

Dampier to Bunbury Pipeline Act 1997 – DOLA assists the DBNGP Land 

Access Minister in the administration of the Act.

Licensed Surveyors Act 1909 and Regulations – outlines the rules and 

guidelines for the conduct of authorised surveys.

Standard Survey Marks Act 1924 – outlines rules and guidelines for provision 

of survey marks.
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Legislation affecting Departmental activities

In carrying out its business activities, DOLA is affected by more than 100 

different Acts administered by other departments or agencies. Some of the most 

signifi cant of these are:

Evidence Act 1906

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Land Tax Assessment Act 1976

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951-1983

Local Government Act 1995

Native Title (State Provisions) Act 1999

Native Title Act (Commonwealth) 1993

State Trading Concerns Act 1916

Stamp Act 1921

In the performance of its obligations as a Government department, DOLA 

complies with the following Acts:

Anti-Corruption Commission Act 1988-1994

Disability Services Act 1984

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985

Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Public Sector Management Act 1994 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1994

State Supply Commission Act 1991

State Records Act 2000

Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981

Workplace Agreements Act 1993 
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Appendix B

DOLA Pricing Policies 

Under Treasurer’s Instruction 903, section 4(x), DOLA is required to advise of the 

policies underlying the pricing of its goods and services. The fees and charges 

DOLA applies to its products and services are determined by:

(a) the application of the principle of recovering the full or partial cost of the 

product or service (which is determined by whether it is categorised as a 

“State good” or not); or

(b) the maintenance of parity pricing with similar products in the market place; or

(c) as determined by the suppliers, where DOLA acts as the agent.

For the three major categories of products and services provided by DOLA, the 

following apply:

• Crown land – the reserve price or sale price of land offered for auction or sale, 

and rentals of leased land are based on the valuation established by the Valuer 

General’s Offi ce. Information regarding land prices is contained in the relevant 

sales brochures or lists of Land for Sale or Lease in WA. These publications are 

available from DOLA’s Land Administration Services Branch.

• Some Crown land may be sold or leased at reduced or nominal prices, 

refl ecting social benefi t issues including closed private streets sold to eliminate 

nuisances or properties leased to community groups.

• Land registration services – the basis for determining the cost of the service 

is in accordance with the concepts set out in Section 5 of A User’s Guide 

to the Consolidated Fund Budget Process available from the Department of 

the Treasury, and the Government’s Competitive Tendering and Contracting 

Guidelines.

• The current list of fees for land registration products and services were imple-

mented on 16 July 2001.  It was published in the 13 July Government Gazette. 

• Mapping products and services – the prices for these are determined by 

applying the principles that are set out in the previous paragraphs. Prices 

currently applying to mapping products and services are available from DOLA’s 

Land Information Products and Services section, Midland. 

DOLA has reviewed the pricing of fundamental land information data sets under 

the State Trading Concerns Act and the WALIS Data Transfer and Pricing Policy.
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Appendix C

Expenditure specified under the Electoral Act 1907

The Electoral Act 1907, section 175ZE (1), requires DOLA to report expenditure 

incurred by or on behalf of the Department in relation to:

• Advertising agencies;

• Market research organisations;

• Polling organisations;

• Direct mail organisations; and

• Media advertising organisations.

In relation to particular classes of expenditure, DOLA reports the following:

Advertising agencies – $300,329

Marketforce  (Advertising for job vacancies, the calling of tenders, and public 

notices in relation to the sale, lease or development of Crown land as required 

by the Land Administration Act.)

Market Creations

Market research organisations - $18,341

Research Solutions Pty Ltd (Quantitative research Marketing & Product Develop-

ment Branch).

Media advertising organisations - $19,621 

Media Monitors

Media Decisions 

Executive Media 

Westate Publishers Pty Ltd 

Rural Press Regional Media WA Pty Ltd

Rehame Australia

The total amount paid by DOLA for expenditure specifi ed in the Act during 

2001-2002 was $ 338,291
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Organisation

The Constable 

Care Child Safety 

Project (Inc)

Total Given

Purpose

Constable Care Child 

Safety Project

Cash In Kind

$920

Total

$920

$920

Appendix D

Wastepaper Recycling 

DOLA’s Contract and Building Services (CABS) collected 26,426 tonnes of waste 

paper in 2001-2002.

 

Appendix E 

Sponsorship Report 

DOLA’s Sponsorship Policy and guidelines for giving and accepting sponsorships 

were endorsed in April 1998. In accordance with the policy, the following details 

are reported:

DOLA Sponsorship Received

Organisation

City of Swan

StateWest Credit

StateWest Credit

Total Received

Purpose

Swan Valley Discovery 

Competition

DOLA Fun Run

DOLA International 

Women’s Day 

Breakfast

Cash

$1500

$400

$1000

In Kind

$385

Total

$1885

$400

$1000

$3285

The Swan Valley Discovery Competition is an annual competition for primary 

and secondary students. It promotes interest in heritage, culture, history and 

geography of the region. Sponsorship provided by the Shire of Swan contrib-

uted to prizes for the winning schools.

International Women’s Day is held annually on 8 March. StateWest Credit’s 

sponsorship contributed to the cost of hosting the event.

DOLA’s Fun Run is part of the DOLA staff wellness program. StateWest Credit’s 

sponsorship provided bus hire to transport DOLA staff to the Fun Run venue.

DOLA Sponsorship Given

DOLA assisted the Constable Care Child Safety Project with the preparation of 

a Metropolitan Primary Schools Map.  The map will assist in planning programs 

of educational interactive puppet shows to primary schools.  It will also be used 

as a marketing tool when presenting proposals to local authorities for puppet 

show sponsorship.
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Appendix F

DOLA and WALIS Publications Available 2001-2002 

DOLA and WALIS publications may be available in one or more of the following 

formats:

• Hard copy

• Electronic copy on the DOLA website

• Digital copy (CD-ROM)

List of DOLA publications: 

• A Guide to Strata Titles

• Adding a Spouse to Your Land Title – A Guide to Preparing the Documents, 

May 2001

• An Inventory and Condition Survey of the Sandstone-Yalgoo-Paynes Find Area, 

Western Australia

• Application and Transfer of Land by Personal Representative – A Guide to 

Preparing the Documents, May 2001

• Business Activity Profi le, 12 issues

• Central Map Agency, Historical Plans, Exploration Plans, Early Crown Survey 

Maps, French Exploration Charts

• Central Map Agency, Catalogue of Products and Services

• Changing Name on Certifi cates of Title due to Marriage – A Guide to Preparing 

the Documents

• Changing Names and Addresses on Certifi cates of Title – A Guide to Preparing 

the Documents, May 2000

• Conveyancing Support Service

• Crown Registration Guidelines for Western Australia (1999)

• Crown Lands:

 – Creation of Roads (April 1999)

 – Crown Land Sales (May 1999)

 – Crown Easements (May 1999)

 – Crown Leases (May 1999)

 – Land Acquisitions (May 1999)

 – Management of the Crown Estate (May 1999)

 – Pastoral Leases (May 1999)

 – Reserves (May 1999)

 – Road Closures and Disposals (May 1999)

• Customer Information Bulletin, Number 112 - 118

• Customer Accounting System (CAS) — Conditions of Use, November, 1993

• Customer Product Guides

• Customer Remote Searching System – Conditions of Use, November 1993

• Customer Remote Search System – A Better Way to Access land information, 

January 2002

• Customer Remote Search Internet Guide

• Customer Remote Search Users’ Manual

• Customer Service Bulletin – New Access Arrangements and Prices for Spatial 

Cadastral Information and Tenure Information

• DOLA Annual Report 1999-2000

• DOLA Bulletin, fortnightly staff information bulletin, 26 issues

• DOLA Code of Corporate Governance Practice (August 1999)

• DOLA General Conditions of Contract

• DOLA, Looking After Your Interests in Land (2nd Edition, June 1998; two 

reprints)
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• LandMarks magazine, four issues

• Land Monitor—Monitoring for Management

• Land Development Process Using Early Issue Procedure

• Land Lingo—A Glossary of Defi nitions and Terms Used in Land Administration, 

3rd Edition, June 1997

• Land Titles Registration Practice Manual, Edition 7, February 2001 

• Land Titles Survey and Plan Practice Manual

• Maps and Their Uses Booklet

• Native Title in Western Australia, 1995

• New Horizons Strategic Plan 2000-2005, March 2000

• PanAIRama CDs 

• Pastoral Lands Board 

 – Destocking of Leases

 – Management of Goats on Pastoral Leases

 – Guidelines for the Preparation of a Management Plan

 – Sale and Transfer of Leases

 – Standard Conditions for Transfer for a Pastoral Lease

 – Subleasing of Leases

• Principles, Policies and Procedures Geographic Names Committee, February, 

1994

• Registrar’s Practice Note, one revision

• Remote Sensing Services, AGIMAGE On-farm Use of Satellite Data

• Remote Sensing Services, Monitoring and Managing — The Fight Against Fire 

Using the NOAA-AVHRR Satellite

• Remote Sensing Services, Vegetation Watch Project — Questions and Answers

• DOLA Products and Services Guide, Second Edition, 1995

• DOLA’s Code of Business Conduct (revised June 1998)

• DOLA’S Information Statement (revised May 2000)

• DOLA International – Partnering Development of Sustainable Land Administra-

tion Systems 

• Draft Data Standards for Some WALIS Data Sets (For Comment), October 

1998 

• Emergency Services Directory – Perth North Region 

• Emergency Services Directory – Avon Region 

• Faxing – The DOLA Way

• Fieldbook Presentation of Subdivisions By Early Issue of Title Procedures – 

Examples of Preferred Practice

• Geographic Name Approvals in Western Australia, two issues

• GDA 94 Brochure

• Government Land Administration in WA, April 2001

• Helpful Hints on Strata Development, August 1995, (Revised) 

• How to Complete an Historical Search, February, 1995

• How to Prepare an Application for New Title to Replace One Lost or Destroyed, 

May, 1997 (Revised)

• How to Register a Notifi cation of Change of By-Laws on Strata Plans 

• How to Register Exemptions from Certain Provisions from Strata Plans 

Comprising Three to Five Lots 

• Land Enquiry Centre, Materialise Hardcopy (Report/Plot) Products

• Land Enquiry Centre, Microfi che Products

• Land for Sale or Lease, 12 issues
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• Remote Sensing Services, Services and Products from Earth Observation by 

Satellite

• Remote Searching — DOLA Technology Helping You, December, 1993

• Report on Damage Caused by the Flood of the Ashburton River in February 

1997

• Searching for Land Information

• Simple Transfer of Land – A Guide to Preparing the Documents, May 2001

• SmartRegister Project Brochures

Guidelines to Using SmartRegister

The Future is SmartRegister

Changes to Customer Remote Search and Search Transmission Centre

Title Ordering

• State Maps

– 1:25,000 Topographic

– 1:50,000 Topographic/Cadastral

– 1:1,000,000 Road Maps

– 1: 3,000,000 Road Maps

• StreetSmart®  City and Town Series Maps

– Albany

– Bunbury

– Geraldton

– Kalgoorlie

• StreetSmart‚ Street Directory 2001, 2002

• StreetSmart‚ Street Express 2000, 2001, 2002 

• StreetSmart‚ Touring Maps

– Pilbara

– South west corner

– Southern Forests

– Batavia Coast

– Gascoyne Coast

– Greater South West

– Kimberley

– Lower Great Southern

– Goldfi elds-Esperance

– Mid west

• StreetSmart‚ MetroMaps, 18 in series 

• StreetSmart‚ City to Bush Series Maps 

• Strata Titles Explained

Ownership of Buildings (Conversion Option 1) 

Ownership of Land (Conversion Option 2) 

Ownership of Buildings and Land (Conversion

Option 1 and 2) 

Converting to Survey Strata (Conversion Option 3) 

• Strata Titles Manual (1999) 

• Survey Marks in Pastoral Areas

• Survivorship Application Upon Death of a Joint Tenant – A Guide to Preparing 

the Documents, May 2001

• Transfer of Land following Divorce, a guide to preparing the documents, May 

2001
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• Transverse Mercator Project Grids 1995

• WASTAC Annual Report 1997, 1998 and 1999

• Welcome to Your New Address 

• Your Guide to Lodging a Caveat under Section 137, May 1997 (Revised) 

• List of WALIS Publications    

• Guidelines for the WALIS Pricing and Transfer Policy

• Information About Your Corner of the World 

• Introducing the WALIS Council, November 1998

• Interrogator, CD-ROM, April 2001

• Proceedings of WALIS Forum – 1994 –2000, 2002

• WA Atlas Flyer and Postcard 

• WALIS Pricing and Transfer Policy for Land and Geographic Information held by 

Western Australian State Government agencies 

• WALIS Strategic Directions 2000-2001
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Cadastral data or information – usually refers to survey data relating to land 

boundaries

Crown estate – (also called Government lands) any parcel of Western Australian 

land not held in freehold, including reserved and leased land and to three 

nautical miles from shore.

Crown land – (also called Government land) all land in Western Australia not 

held in freehold, including coastal waters and the seabed.

Geocentric Datum – a reference surface which has as its origin the Earth’s 

centre of mass.

Geodetic – related to the measurement of large portions of the earth’s surface 

that takes into account the curvature, shape and dimensions of the earth.

Geospatial data – land measurements derived from the geodetic control that 

defi nes the earth’s surface

Individually rectifi ed – to individually remove the natural distortions in photo-

graphs for use in conjunction with other map data.

Seamless mosaic – individual photographs “stitched” together and appearing 

as a single larger piece

Spatial data – (see also cadastral data and geospatial data) data related to 

the measurement of land, often refers to land boundary measurements held as 

cadastral data

Tenure – the manner of holding land, for example freehold or leasehold.

GLOSSARY of Land Terms 




